7327-1001

IHLIB TEXTBASE

### INSTITUTE OF HYDROLOGY

Report No. 35

December 1976

### THE AREAL REDUCTION FACTOR

### IN RAINFALL FREQUENCY ESTIMATION

by

### F C Bell\*

### ABSTRACT

This report details the work carried out to re-evaluate and check the areal reduction factors contained in the Flood Studies Report. Different definitions and methods are described and discussed. Following this areal and point rainfalls for various durations and United Kingdom locations are calculated which permit a direct estimate of ARF as the ratio of areal to point rainfall of the same return period. Good general agreement was found with the Flood Studies values at moderate return periods but a tendency to overestimate slightly at long return periods. The evidence for locational differences in ARF was inconclusive. Suggestions are made for further research and data requirements. The report includes a full account of the theory and the data handling procedures for which computer programs are given.

\*Senior Lecturer, on leave from University of New South Wales, Australia

ŀ

.

# CONTENTS

ľ

		Page
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
2.	INTERPRETATION AND DERIVATION OF ARF	1
	2.1 Storm-centred ARFs 2.2 Fixed-area ARFs	3 3
3.	ESTIMATION OF 24-HOUR ARF FOR SAMPLE AREAS OF 1000 KM <sup>2</sup>	8
	<ul> <li>3.1 Determination of Areal Rainfall Frequency Curves</li> <li>3.2 Determination of Average Point Rainfall Frequency Curves</li> <li>3.3 Estimation of ARF</li> </ul>	9 11 12
4.	ESTIMATION OF 1-HOUR AND 2-HOUR ARFS FOR VARIOUS AREAS	13
5.	ESTIMATION OF SAMPLING ERRORS	15
6.	DOES ARF VARY WITH LOCATION?	17
7.	DOES ARF VARY WITH RETURN PERIOD?	18
8.	FURTHER RESEARCH NEEDS	20
9.	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	21
	Acknowledgements	23
	References	24
	APPENDIX A	26
	APPENDIX B	45

FIGURE	35	
		Page
1	Areal reduction factor from Flood Studies Report	2
2	Derivation of storm centred ARF	4
3	Comparison of UK and US Areal Reduction Factors	4
4	Derivation of Fixed Area ARF	5
5	Derivation of Flood Studies Report ARF	7
6	Interpretation of Areal Reduction Factor	7
7	Location of areas selected for analysis of areal rainfall	8

# TABLES

1

ľ

ľ

l	Areal rainfalls from frequency curves for areas 1 to 9	10
2	Point rainfalls from frequency curves for areas 1 to 9	11
3	ARF calculated from values in Tables 1 and 2	12
4	ARF from Flood Studies Report	12
5	Areal rainfalls from frequency curves for areas 10 to 15	14
6	Point rainfalls from frequency curves for areas 10 to 15	14
7	ARF calculated from values in Tables 5 and 6	14
8	Correlations between standardised point and areal rainfalls	17
9	Limiting ARFs calculated from $B_a/B_a$	19

ii

### 1. INTRODUCTION

Volume II of the Flood Studies Report (Natural Environment Research Council, 1975) presents data for the estimation of rainfall depths corresponding to given durations and return periods for any point in the United Kingdom. Since engineering and hydrological applications of these data are usually concerned with volumes or average depths of rainfall over various areas rather than with depths at particular points, the Report also provides for conversion of point to areal values using "areal reduction factors". This conversion procedure may be expressed simply by:

$$R_a = ARF x R_b$$

where R<sub>a</sub> = average rainfall depth over the area for the given duration and return period, R = mean of point rainfall values within the same area for the same duration and return period, ARF = areal reduction factor, varying with the duration and size of area.

The recommended values of ARF are tabulated in the Report for areas up to  $30,000 \text{ km}^2$  and durations up to 25 days. A subset of these data is also published in graphical form and is reproduced in the present study in Figure 1.

It is assumed that ARF is approximately constant for all return periods and all parts of the United Kingdom but the validity of this assumption is not completely certain, as suggested in discussion at the 1975 Flood Studies Conference (proceedings published by Institution of Civil Engineers, May 1975). In the same discussion the method used for deriving the recommended values of ARF was questioned and also certain doubts were raised about the physical interpretation of ARF in rainfall frequency estimation. These expressions of concern have prompted further studies of the topic, some of which are reported in the present study.

### 2. INTERPRETATION AND DERIVATION OF ARF

The concept of an areal reduction factor in catchment rainfall studies has been widely accepted and applied in various countries of the world for several decades (see, for example, Linsley, Kohler and Paulhus,

.... (1)



FIGURE 1

Areal reduction factor from Flood Studies Report

1949; Roche, 1963). In the United Kingdom prior to the Flood Studies Report, values of ARF were derived by Holland (1967) for a small range of areas and durations. Some detailed studies of both practical and theoretical aspects of the topic have been made in the United States, for example by the United States Weather Bureau (1960), Smith (1974) and Rodriguez-Iturbe and Mejia (1974).

As explained by Hershfield (1962), two types of ARF are recognised in the United States, viz storm-centred and fixed-area. Storm-centred values are used mainly for converting point estimates of probable maximum precipitation (PMP) to areal estimates, but are not recommended for frequency estimates, ie. when a definite return period is involved (United States Weather Bureau, 1960). For the latter purposes fixedarea ARFs are used, and therefore these are the type of ARF implied by Equation (1) and presented in the Flood Studies Report. The basic differences between the two types of ARF may be seen in their different methods of derivation as described below.

### 2.1 Storm-centred ARFs

Storm-centred ARFs are calculated for individual rainfall events from the ratio  $\rm R_1/R_2$  where:

- R<sub>1</sub> = maximum areal rainfall within the storm zone for the given area and duration,
- R<sub>2</sub> = maximum point rainfall within the same storm for the same duration.

In general, the location of the given area for calculation of  $R_1$  is determined by the isohyetal pattern and varies from storm to storm. The area is usually selected so that it is centred around the highest rainfall,  $R_2$ , its boundaries corresponding with a particular isohyet as shown in Figure 2 which illustrates the procedure.

Average values of storm-centred ARF have been derived on a regional basis by the U.S. Weather Bureau from major storm data for North America (Hershfield, 1962). An indication of the range of these values for a duration of 24 hours is given in Figure 3.

### 2.2 Fixed-area ARFs

The fixed-area ARFs used in the United States were derived originally from 10 to 15 years of data in a number of areas with high densities of rainfall stations (U.S. Weather Bureau, 1958; Rodriguez-Iturbe and Mejia, 1974]. In the method of derivation, which is illustrated in Figure 4, it was assumed that the required ARFs were independent of return period and equal to the ratio  $R_3/R_4$  where:

R<sub>3</sub> = mean of annual maximum areal values for the given duration and area,



- For each duration and storm event plot isohyetal map (a)
   Planimeter area within each isohyet to draw rain area curve (b) 3. Interpolate to area of interest and calculate average rain with the isohyet  $R_1$ This is given as the average rain ordinate between the origin

4. Calculate event ARF =  $R_1/R_2$ . Average over many events to give  $R_1/R_2$ 

FIGURE 2 Derivation of storm centred ARF



FIGURE 3

Comparison of UK and US Areal Reduction Factors



- 1. For each day of record calculate the average areal rainfall  $r_a$ . Use either isohyets or  $r_a = w_1 r_{p1} + w_2 r_{p2} + etc$  where w is a Thiessen weight.
- 2. Extract the annual maximum values of  $r_{a}^{*}=R_{a}(1)$  in year 1,  $R_{a}(2)$  in year 2 etc. up to  $R_{a}(N)$  in year N.
- 3. Mean annual areal rainfall maximum  $R_3 = \sum Ra(1) / N$
- 4. From the records of raingauge  $P_1$  extract the annual maximum values,  $Rp_1(1)$  in year 1,  $Rp_1(2)$  in year 2 up to  $Rp_1(N)$  in year N.
- 5. Mean annual rainfall maximum  $\overline{R}p_1 = \sum_{i=1}^{N} Rp_1(i)/N$ .
- 6. Repeat for  $p_2$ ,  $p_3$  etc and calculate  $\bar{k}p_2$ ,  $Rp_3$ . Note that there is no requirement for the days on which the maxima occur to coincide.
- 7. Calculate areal average of the point mean annual rainfalls,
- $\mathbf{R}_4 = \mathbf{w}_1 \mathbf{\bar{R}p}_1 + \mathbf{w}_2 \mathbf{\bar{R}p}_2 + \mathbf{etc}.$
- $8. \text{ ARF} = R_3/R_4$
- 9. Repeat for other durations.

Derivation of Fixed Area ARF

FIGURE 4

R<sub>4</sub> = mean of annual maximum point values for the same duration, and for a number of points within the same area.

As regional variations in the ratio were generally less than five per cent, the same set of values was adopted for the whole of the United States. In most cases these are higher than the storm-centred ARFs, as exemplified by the comparison of 24-hour values shown in Figure 3.

Also shown in Figure 3 are the 24-hour fixed-area ARFs for the United Kingdom as given in the Flood Studies Report, and which differ only slightly from the United States values. In the derivation of the Flood Studies ARFs, which is illustrated in Figure 5, it was assumed that they are equal to the means of many sample values of the ratio  $R_5/R_6$  where:

R<sub>5</sub> = rainfall at any point within the given area during the period of the annual maximum areal rainfall,

 $R_6 = annual maximum rainfall for the same point and for the same duration and year as <math>R_5$ .

As there was no significant correlation between the ratios and  $R_6$  it was assumed that ARF is independent of return period. An absence of distinct regional variations and close similarity to the United States values both supported the additional assumption that ARF does not vary much with geographical location.

6

Fixed-area ARFs are not directly related to the ratios of area to point rainfall in any individual recorded storm nor in any hypothetical design storm. Their conceptual significance is therefore not immediately obvious, being more statistical than physical. Perhaps the most lucid practical interpretation is in terms of point and areal frequency curves as shown in Figure 6. Here, fixed-area ARF is simply the ratio between areal and point rainfall with the same return period. Attempts to interpret it directly in terms of the characteristics of particular storms commonly result in its confusion with storm-centred ARFs and with other parameters largely irrelevant to rainfall frequency estimation. Misconceptions of this type are clearly evident in some of the previously mentioned criticisms of the Flood Studies Report at the Flood Studies Conference (Institution of Civil Engineers, 1975).

Nevertheless, the derivation methods adopted by both the U.S. Weather Bureau and the United Kingdom Flood Studies group provide only indirect estimates of fixed-area ARF, the validity of which appears to depend on some assumptions not thoroughly tested. A less equivocal method would be to derive the values directly from the appropriate areal and point frequency distributions as suggested by Figure 6. Any tendency for ARF to vary with return period should be clearly revealed by this method, whereas the other methods tend to obscure such variations because of their pooling of the data.

Possible reasons why ARFs have not been derived from frequency curves in past studies are (a) the considerable computational effort required, and (b) the expectation of large sampling errors due to the relative There brevity of most records suitable for estimates of areal rainfall. is no doubt that rainfall frequency estimates from brief records are inaccurate but this does not necessarily result in large sampling errors in ARF because of the high degree of positive correlation between point and areal rainfall. Thus, if the observed point rainfall from a sample of data for a given return period tended to be, for example, higher than the population value, then the corresponding areal rainfall would also tend to be higher and therefore the ratio between the two should still be close to the correct value. Direct derivation of ARF from frequency curves has been adopted in the present study and it will be shown in Section 5 that the associated sampling errors are not excessive.



- 1. For each day of interest within the record calculate the average areal rainfall,  $r_a$ . Extract the annual maximum value and note the day on which it occurred.
- 2.
- 3. Note the point rainfall values for that same day,  $=R_5(p_1)$ ,  $R_5(p_2)$ ,
- 3. Note the point future former in the maximum point rainfalls at each point,
  4. For the same year extract the maximum point rainfalls at each point,
  =R<sub>6</sub>(p<sub>1</sub>), R<sub>6</sub>(p<sub>2</sub>) etc. In some cases R<sub>5</sub> and R<sub>6</sub> will coincide, while in others R<sub>6</sub> will exceed R<sub>5</sub>.
  5. For each point and year calculate R<sub>5</sub>/R<sub>6</sub>. ARF is grand average over points
- and years.
- 6. Repeat for other durations.



Derivation of Flood Studies Report ARF







FIGURE 7 Location of areas selected for analysis of areal rainfall

3. ESTIMATION OF 24-HOUR ARF FOR SAMPLE AREAS OF 1000 KM<sup>2</sup>

It was decided to test the 24-hour ARF values of the Flood Studies Report with samples of data from a set of records designated *British Rainfall Data* held by the Institute of Hydrology on magnetic tape. These records had been assembled by the Meteorological Office and consisted of daily rainfall observations at some 14000 stations in the United Kingdom for the 14-year period 1961 to 1974.

For the analysis of areal rainfalls using the above data, nine circular areas of  $1000 \text{ km}^2$  were selected at the locations indicated by the numbers 1 to 9 in Figure 7. These were selected so that (a) the general range of meteorological conditions in the United Kingdom was sampled, and (b) each area contained at least 12 rainfall stations

with reasonably complete records. The objective was to derive frequency curves of areal and average (or representative) point rainfall for each circular area to permit estimation of 24-hour ARFs as shown in Figure 6.

### 3.1 Determination of Areal Rainfall Frequency Curves

Before areal rainfall frequency curves could be derived it was necessary to calculate mean rainfall depths within the circular areas (representing total volumes of rainfall on each area) for every day of the 14-year record. Statistical analyses of these daily areal values were then made in essentially the same way as point rainfalls are usually analysed to derive point frequency curves.

Several methods of calculating mean areal rainfall depths were considered, including Thiessen polygons and various trend surface analyses (Rainbird, 1967; Mandeville and Rodda, 1970; Lee, Lynn and Shaw, 1974). The adopted method consisted of dividing the stations in each sample area into between three and seven groups so that equal Theissen polygons could be constructed around the group centres of gravity. A modified Thiessen weighting of 1/nN was assigned to each station, where n = number of stations in group (varying because of incomplete records at some stations), and N = number of groups in sample area (constant for entire period of records). This method of calculating areal rainfalls was found to have certain computational advantages over the normal Thiessen method and gave virtually the same estimates.

The daily areal rainfalls from the above calculations were ranked to give the 20 highest values for each sample area. Any of these values in the same storm period (defined as a period of consecutive days with rain) were considered non-independent and therefore only the maximum daily rainfall in each storm period was used. Following the recommendations of Alexander (1970), the rainfalls selected by this procedure were regarded as a partial duration or peaks-over-threshold (POT) series with an exponential distribution. The corresponding frequency curves may be expressed by:

$$T = T_{o} \exp \left[ (x - x_{o})/B \right] \qquad \dots \qquad (2)$$

.... (3)

or the equivalent:

 $x = B \log_e (T/T_o) + x_o$ 

where:

х	=	rainfall,
т	=	return period of x, ie. the average period in
		years between values equal to, or greater than x,
x	=	base or selected minimum value of x,
тŏ		return period of x

### B = slope parameter of distribution (theoretically equal to the standard deviation of the population).

For all sample areas x was selected to have a return period (T) of 1.5 years because small systematic departures from the exponential distribution were observed for shorter return periods. Also, rainfalls with shorter return periods are usually of less practical interest. Derivation of the areal rainfall frequency curves was therefore a matter of evaluating the parameters x and B for each sample area. This was done by the maximum likelihood method described in Vol I of the Flood Studies Report which uses the equations:

 $\hat{B} = \frac{N}{N-1} (\bar{x} - x_1)$  ..... (4)

.... (5)

3

where:

 $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{0} = \bar{\mathbf{x}} - \frac{\hat{\mathbf{B}}}{N}$ 

х°	and	d $\hat{B}$ are maximum likelihood estimates of $x_0$ and E
		respectively,
N	=	size of sample (=9 for 14 years of data and
_		$T_0 = 1.5 \text{ years}$ ,
х	.=	average of sample values,
х.	-	lowest value in sample

Substitution of the appropriate values of x, B and T in Equation (3) thus provided estimates of areal rainfall for any specified return period. In particular, the 2, 5, 10 and 20-year rainfalls were estimated in this manner and their values are listed in Table 1.

Frequency curves corresponding to Equation (3) and the derived values of x and B are plotted graphically in Appendix A for each area. On the same diagrams are tabulated the ranked rainfalls which are also plotted graphically according to the Gringorten formula, as recommended in Vol I of the Flood Studies Report. These points provide visual checks on the accuracy of the frequency calculations and they also verify that the exponential distribution is appropriate for the ranges of values considered.

Table 1 Areal rainfalls from frequency curves for areas 1 to 9

SAMPLE	2-YBAR 1	2-YBAR R.P.		5-YEAR R.P.		10-YEAR R.P.		R.P.	
AREA	RAINFALL	S. E.	RAINFALL	Ş.E.	RAINFALL	S.E.	RAINPALL	8. <b>E</b> .	RUITES
1	50	4	61	7	69	10	77	13	Rainfalls are in mm.
2	34	3	42	5	49	7	55	9	
<u> </u>	31	2	37	4	42	6	47	8	S.E. = Standard error
4	35	4	45	7	53	9	62	13	(calculated from equation (8)
5	27	2	34	4	38	6	43	7	•••••••• • •
6	41	<b>4</b>	52	7	60	9	68	12	
7	32	3	41	5	47	7	52	9	
8	52	5	65	8	76	11	66	15	
9	38	2	44	3	48	4	51	6	

### 3.2 Determination of Average Point Rainfall Frequency Curves

For the derivation of average point frequency curves it was necessary to obtain the 20 highest daily rainfalls for every station with 12 or more years of data. As in the case of areal rainfalls, only the maximum value from each storm period was included to ensure independence.

Statistical analyses of the ranked rainfalls could have been made to derive separate frequency curves for each station in a sample area, and an appropriately weighted average of these curves would have provided the required average point frequency curve for the area. However, a computationally simpler but numerically equivalent procedure was adopted. This procedure made use of the fact that the same theoretical return period and plotting position applies to all values of the same rank. The weighted average point value was calculated for each rank and each area, the weightings being determined by the same modified Thiessen method used for estimating areal rainfalls. Small adjustments were made to the rainfall values of stations with less than 14 years of data to interpolate them to the standard set of plotting positions.

The ranked average point rainfalls for each area were given a similar statistical treatment to the ranked areal rainfalls. Exponential distributions were assumed and their parameters were estimated by Equations (4) and (5), as described in Section 3.1. The resulting 2, 5, 10 and 20-year values of point rainfall for each area are listed in Table 2, and the corresponding frequency curves are plotted on the same diagrams as the areal rainfall frequency curves in Appendix A.

Computer programmes were formulated for extracting the daily rainfalls from the British Rainfall Data magnetic tape, and for performing the above calculations for both areal and point rainfall. Copies of these are given in Appendix II.

### Table 2 Point rainfalls from frequency curves for areas 1 to 9

SAMPLE	2-YEAR R.P.		5-YEAR R.P.		10-YEAR R.P.		20-YEAR R.P.		
AREA	RAINFALL	S.E.	RAINFALL	5,E,	RAINFALL	S,F.	RAINPALL	S,E,	NOTES
1	52	. 4	65	5	75	6	85	7	Rainfalls are in wa.
2	36	3	46	3	55	4	61	5	S.E. = Standard error
3	35	3	42	3	48	4	53	5	(calculated from equation (8))
4	38	3	50	4	59	5	68	6	
5	29	2	38	3	46	4	52	4	
6	45	3	59	4	70	6	80	7	
7	34	3	46	3	54	4	63	5	
8	61	5	77	6	90	7	103	9	
9	43	Э	52	4	59	5	65	5	

### 3.3 Estimation of ARF

The required values of ARF were calculated directly from corresponding rainfalls in Tables 1 and 2, ie. from areal and average point rainfalls having the same return period. The resulting ARFs range from 0.80 to 0.95 with a mean of 0.88 as shown in Table 3. The Flood Studies ARF for the same duration and area is 0.89 (see Table 4), indicating a reasonable agreement.

	Table 3	ARF	calculated	from	values	in	Tables	1	and	2
--	---------	-----	------------	------	--------	----	--------	---	-----	---

SAMPLE	2-YEAR R.P.		5-YEAR R.P.		10-YEAR R.P.		20-YEAR R.P.		
AREA	ARF	S.E.	ARF	S.E.	ARP	5.E.	ARF	S.E.	NOTES
1	.95	.04	.93	,06	.92	.09	.91	.10	
2	.95	,04	.92	.05	.90	,07	,89	,10	S.E Standard error
3	.89	.04	.89	• .06	.89	.08	.89	.09	<pre>(calculated from equation (9))</pre>
4	.90	.06	.90	.08	.90	.10	.90	.13	
5	.95	,05	.88	.05	.96	.07	.82	.09	
6	.90	.04	.88	.07	,86	.09	.85	,11	*mean S.E. was calculated from
7	, 93	,04	.87	.06	.96	,08	.82	,10	$\sqrt{r_{c} + 2}$
8	.86	.04	.85	,06	.84	.08	.84	,11	<u> 143.1.</u>
9	.89	.04	.84	.05	.81	,05	.80	.05	¥ 3
MEAN	.91	*,04	.88	*.06	,87	*,08	.86	+.10	

EXPECTED ARP FROM F.S.R. = .89 FOR ALL SAMPLE AREAS

Table 4

ARF from Flood Studies Report

REF No. (FIG 7)	LOCATION	AREA km²	DURATION hrs	No QF STATIONS	YEARS OF RECORD	ARF in F.S.R.
1	Scottish Highlands	1000	24	24	14	0.89 `
2	Aberdeen	1000	24	14	14	0.89
3	Newcastle-Hexham	1000	24	19	14	0.89
4	Belfast	1000	24	35	14	0,89
5	Norwich	1000	24	31	14	0.89
6	Plymouth	1000	24	31	14	0.89
7	Grandon Underwood	1000	24	37	14	0,89
8	Plynlimon	1000	24	25	14	0.89
9	River Dee	1000	24	31	14	0.89
10	Surrey	1000	1 5 2	8	12	0.61, 0.72
11	Surrey	100	1 6 2	3	12	0.79, 0.84
12	Chilterns	8000	1 \$ 2	14	9	0.46, 0.57
13	Greenwich	100	2	9	' 8	0,84
14	Grandon Underwood	20	1	3	12	0.98
15	Plynlimon	20	1	3	7	0,68

4. ESTIMATION OF 1-HOUR AND 2-HOUR ARFS FOR VARIOUS AREAS

It would have been desirable to evaluate the 1-hour and 2-hour ARFs from as wide a range of geographical locations as was used for the 24-hour ARFs. Unfortunately this was not possible because the only closely spaced networks of recording raingauges with suitable lengths of record appeared to be in southern England and in Wales.

Annual maximum 1-hour and 2-hour rainfalls were obtained from the Meteorological Office for a number of stations centred around the Chilterns and in Surrey with records varying in length from 9 to 12 years. Although some of these data were also used in the derivation of the original Flood Studies ARFs it was still considered desirable to include them in the present study because the completely different method of derivation would not necessarily result in the same values of ARF. The Chilterns and Surrey data permitted the estimation of average point and areal frequency curves for areas of 100, 1000 and 8000 km<sup>2</sup>, the locations of which are shown in Figure 7.

In the estimation of the Chilterns and Surrey frequency curves, the procedure for obtaining ranked areal and average point rainfalls was the same as that for the 24-hour rainfalls. However, it was necessary to assume a different form of frequency distribution, viz the extreme value type I or Gumbel distribution, since the ranked values were annual maxima rather than partial duration series. Maximum likelihood estimates of the distribution parameters were made with the equations given in Section I.1.3.4 of the Flood Studies Report which are more complex than Equations (4) and (5). Average point and areal rainfalls and corresponding ARFs were then calculated for return periods of 2.54, 5.52, 10.51 and 20.5 years respectively, based on a theoretical relationship between the two series suggested by Langbein (1949). The resulting rainfalls and ARFs were therefore consistent with the 2, 5, 10 and 20-year values derived for other areas. They are listed in Tables 5, 6 and 7.

A considerable amount of short-duration rainfall data has been collected by the Greater London Council and should prove valuable for future studies of rainfall in the London area. Little use was made of this information in the present study because (a) it was still being processed and insufficient time was available for extraction of the raw data, and (b) the area was close to the Chilterns and Surrey districts for which data had already been obtained as described previously. However, the Council made available a number of isohyetal maps and other records which provided reasonable estimates of all important 2-hour rainfalls in a 100 km<sup>2</sup> area near Greenwich for the 8-year period to June, 1976. Average point and areal frequency curves were derived from these data by the procedure described in Section 3, except that areal rainfalls were estimated by the isohyetal method (planimetric measurement of areas between isohyets) rather than by the modified Thiessen method. Again, the resulting 2, 5, 10, and 20-year rainfalls and corresponding ARFs are listed in Tables 5, 6 and 7.

Table 5	Areal	rainfalls	from	fremency	curves	for	areas	10	to	15
		~ WATTERE TO	TTOW	Treduency	Curves	TOT	ar cas	τU.,	<u> </u>	цэ

K

5

ľ

	20-YEAR R.P.		10-YEAR R.P.		5-YEAR R,P.		2-YEAR R.P.		DURATION	SAMPLE
NOTES	5.8.	RAINFALL	S.E.	RAINFALL	Ş.E.	RAINFALL,	S.E.	RAINFALL	(HIRS)	<b>A</b> REA
	2	14	4	13	2	12	1	10	1	10
	3	20	3	18	2	17	1	15	2	10
See Tables 1 and 2	3	17	2	15	T	14	1	12	1	11
	4	25	3	22	2	20	1	17	2	n
	4	11	3	10	2	8	1	6	1	12
	4	18	3	16	3	13	1	11	2	12
	10	32	8	26	6	20	3	12	2	13
	3	15	2	13	2	22	1	8	1	14
	5	22	4	19	3	16	2	13	ι	15

rab.	le	6	Point ra	ainfalls	from	frequency	curves	for	areas	10	to	15	2
										-		_	-

SAMPLE	DURATION	2-YEAR	Ŕ,P,	5-YEAR	R,P.	10-YEAR	Ŗ,₽.	20-YEAR	R.P.	
area	(HRS)	RA INFALL	5.E.	RAINFALL	S.E.	ra infall	5,E.	RAINFALL	S.E.	NOTES
10		 15	2	20	4	23	5	22	6	
10	2	20	2	26	4	30	6	34	7	
11	1	16	2	22	4	26	5	30	2	Ser Tables 1 and 2
11	2	21	2	26	4	29	5	33	6	
12	1	11	Э	16	5	21	7	25	9	
12	2	17	3	23	5	27	7	31	8	
13	2	18	ৰ	22	7	29	9	36	12	
14	1	9	l	12	2	15	Э	18	4	
15	1	15	2	19	3	22	5	26	6	

# Table 7 ARF calculated from values in Tables 5 and 6

SAMPLE	DURATION	2- <b>YEA</b> I	R <b>R.9.</b>	5-YEA	R R.P.	10-yea	R R.P.	20-YEA	R R,9.	MEAN*	F.S.R.
AREA	(HRS)	ARF	S.E.	ARF	S.E.	ARF	Ŝ.E,	ARF	5.E.	APC	AKF
10	1		.06	. 58	- 07	. 54	.03	. 51	.08	.57	.61
10	2	.73	.06	.66	-07	.62	.08	. 59	,09	,65	.72
11	1	.75	.09	.64	.09	. 59	.09	. 56	,10	. 64	,79
11	2	.81	.05	.78	.07	.76	.08	.74	09	.77	.84
12	ī	. 53	.10	.48	.11	.45	.11	.44	,12	,48	.46
12	2	.63	.07	. 59	.10	. 58	.11	, 57	.11	, 59	.57
13	2	.95	.10	. 92	.12	. 91	.13	.91	,13	,92	,84
14	1	.98	.10	-89	.12	.85	,13	.82	.14	,89	, 98
15	1	.89	.09	.86	.11	.86	,13	.85	.15	,87	.88

The remaining rainfall and ARF values in Tables 5, 6 and 7 were calculated from the Grendon Underwood and Plynlimon experimental catchment data collected by the Institute of Hydrology. In these cases the two 20 km<sup>2</sup> circular areas were positioned around the rain gauges so that equal Thiessen weightings applied to all gauges. Otherwise the computations were essentially the same as for the 24-hour ARFs as described in Section 3.

Graphical plots of all the above 1-hour and 2-hour frequency curves are included in Appendix A. Tables on the same diagram list the ranked areal and point rainfalls and other relevant information.

### 5. ESTIMATION OF SAMPLING ERRORS

Tables 1 to 3 and 5 to 7 list estimated standard errors for the calculated rainfall and ARF values. In the determination of these errors it was assumed that the major source of uncertainty is due to limited sample sizes, ie. to the necessarily finite records used for estimating point and areal rainfall frequencies. Other errors such as those due to spatial sampling and measurement inaccuracies were regarded as either insignificant or mutually compensating.

The tabulated standard errors were estimated by the principles described in Section 1.4 of the Flood Studies Report from which it may be shown that the sampling distributions of parameters B and x in the exponential distribution have variances given by:

$$\operatorname{var} \hat{B} = \frac{B^2 (N+1)}{(N-1)^2} \dots \dots (6)$$

and

var 
$$\hat{x}_{0} = \frac{B^{2} (N^{3} - 2N^{2} + 2N + 1)}{N^{2} (N - 1)^{2}}$$
 ..... (7)

But the form of the exponential distribution is such that

 $\hat{\mathbf{x}} = \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{o} + \text{Blog}_{e}(\mathbf{T}/\mathbf{T}_{o})$   $\therefore \text{ var } \hat{\mathbf{x}} = \text{var } \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{o} + (\log_{e}(\mathbf{T}/\mathbf{T}_{o}))^{2} \text{ var } \hat{\mathbf{B}} \text{ (assuming } \hat{\mathbf{x}} \text{ and } \hat{\mathbf{B}} \text{ are independent)}$   $\therefore \text{ var } \hat{\mathbf{x}} = B^{2} \left[ \frac{N^{2} - N + 2 + (N - 1) (\log_{e}(\mathbf{T}/\mathbf{T}_{o}))^{2}}{N(N - 1)^{2}} \right] \dots (8)$ 

where  $\hat{x}$  = estimated point or areal rainfall corresponding to a particular return period;

other symbols are the same as for Equations (4) and (5). Equation (8) was used to estimate the variances of point and areal rainfalls, and the square roots of these variances are the standard errors listed in Tables 1, 2, 5 and 6.

Reverting to the symbols  $R_p$  for the average point rainfall and  $R_a$  for corresponding areal rainfall, the variances of ARF may be expressed in terms of the rainfall variances as follows:

(see Kendall and Stuart, 1961)

The covariance of R and R may be calculated from their correlation coefficient r by: p

$$cov (R_a, R_p) = r\sqrt{var R_a var R_b} \qquad \dots \qquad (10)$$

Appropriate values of r for Equation (10) could not be estimated directly from the paired point and areal rainfalls in Tables 1, 2, 5 and 6. This would have been invalid because the rainfall sampling distributions vary with location as well as with return period, duration and area, and no method of grouping could allow for all these sources of variability. In an attempt to overcome this difficulty the tabulated rainfalls were "standardised" by the conversion:

$$y = \frac{x - x_e}{x_e}$$

where x = original point or areal rainfall,

x = estimate of "true" or population value of x
for the given return period, as obtained from
the frequency data in Vol II of the Flood
Studies Report,

In the estimation of  $x_e$  allowances were made for the fact that most of the rainfalls in Tables 1, 2, 5 and 6 are for fixed-interval durations (rainfall days or clock hours) while the Flood Studies data are for unrestricted durations, as explained in Sections II.3.2 and II.3.3 of the Flood Studies Report.

After standardisation the rainfalls were grouped according to return period and duration with nine pairs of values in each group. Correlation coefficients were then calculated for each group, as listed in Table 8, and these were used in Equations (9) and (10) for estimating the variances of ARF. The square roots of the variances are the standard errors shown in Tables 3 and 7.

100100 $0$ $00110101010000000000000000$	Table 8	Correlations	between	standardised	point	and	areal	rainfal	18
---	---------	--------------	---------	--------------	-------	-----	-------	---------	----

R.P.	2.	-YEAR	5-	YEAR	10	-YEAR	2(	o-year	Computed from 9 pairs of
DURN.	24 HR5	1 & 2 HRS	24 HR	1 & 2 HR	24 HR	1 & 2 HR	24 HR	1 & 2 HR	standardised values in eac group.
r	.87	.90	. 89	.75	.83	,70	.76	.68	

### 6. DOES ARF VARY WITH LOCATION?

To answer this question in statistical terms two appropriate null hypotheses may be formulated, namely (a) that ARF does not vary with location, and (b) that there is no significant difference between the ARFs derived in this study and the corresponding ARFs of the Flood Studies Report. Since standard errors have been estimated these hypotheses may be formally tested by the usual procedures with the assumption that the rainfalls of each of the selected areas represent an independent sample. It is obvious that neither hypotheses would be rejected by such tests because the largest differences between comparable ARFs in Tables 3 and 7 are generally of the same magnitudes as the standard errors. One is led to conclude that the observed variability in ARF between different locations may be fully explained by sampling errors and there is no significant difference between the values derived in this study and those of the Flood Studies Report.

However, several reservations should be expressed concerning these conclusions. Firstly, the testing of the hypotheses is not strictly valid if there is significant correlation between rainfall frequencies in different sample areas, ie. if they are not independent. Unfortunately, some degree of correlation may be expected because of the extensive spatial coverage of meteorological conditions associated with exceptional rainfalls. Secondly, failure to reject the hypotheses on the evidence of calculated sampling errors does not preclude their possible rejection on other evidence. In other words, there could still be some variations due to locational factors although their magnitudes should not exceed the calculated sampling errors in Tables 3 and 7. Further investigation of this issue included the calculation of correlation coefficients between the average 24-hour ARFs for each area and the following locational factors:

Rainfall magnitude as expressed by the 5-year value from Vol II of the Flood Studies Report,

Ratio of 60-minute, 5-year rainfall to 2-day, 5-year rainfall (index of local convective activity),

Latitude,

Longitude.

The only significant correlation was found with latitude, the coefficient being 0.69 which just reached the 95 per cent level of significance (using the equal tails test described in Crow *et al*, 1960). Therefore, there may be a trend towards higher values of 24-hour ARF in more northerly latitudes but no definite conclusions should be drawn concerning the magnitude of such a trend, except that it is probably smaller than the sampling errors listed in Table 3.

A similar analysis was not carried out for the 1-hour and 2-hour ARFs because of the disparities in the sizes of the areas and the inadequate range of locations.

7. DOES ARF VARY WITH RETURN PERIOD?

Tables 3 and 7 suggest a consistent trend towards lower values of ARF with longer return periods. Two methods of testing the significance of this were used, namely (a) the non-parametric sign test, and (b) an adaptation of the t test for comparing means of samples from populations with different variances (p. 60, Crow *et al*, 1960).

Application of the sign test to the 24-hour ARFs in Table 3 showed the differences between grouped values for any pair of return periods to be significant at the 95 per cent level. When applied to the short-duration ARFs in Table 6, this test showed even more significant differences at the 99 per cent level. The more efficient t test also indicated significant differences between the 2-year and 20-year 24-hour ARFs at the 95 per cent level. The latter test was not used with any other values because of doubts concerning independence of samples and homogeneity of the populations represented.

The data therefore provide reasonable evidence that ARFs decrease with increasing return periods. The differences between 2-year and 20-year values are apparently of the order of 2 per cent to 5 per cent for 24-hour ARFs and 5 per cent to 15 per cent for 1-hour and 2-hour ARFs.

In general, the values of ARF in the Flood Studies Report correspond to return periods of 5 to 10 years and tend to be conservative for the longer return periods commonly adopted for engineering design purposes.

A theoretical estimate of the limiting value of ARF (ie. with an infinitely long return period) is given by the ratio  $B_{\rm a}/B_{\rm p}$  where

 $B_a = parameter B in Equation (3)$  for areal rainfalls

This is readily demonstrated by expressing ARF in terms of Equation (3); viz:

$$ARF = \frac{x_{o \text{ (area)}} + B T}{x_{o \text{ (point)}} + B T} \rightarrow \frac{B_{a}}{B} \text{ as } T \rightarrow \infty$$

Table 9 shows limiting values of ARF for 24 hours and 1000  $\text{km}^2$  calculated by means of the above ratio. These range from 0.57 to 0.90 with a mean of 0.77 which is about 12 per cent lower than the Flood Studies ARF and about 6 per cent lower than the corresponding average storm-centred ARF used in the United States for pMP estimates (see Figure 3).

Also shown in Table 9 are limiting values of 1-hour and 2-hour ARFs calculated in the same way. They are very variable, some being as much as 25 per cent lower than the corresponding Flood Studies ARFs. Comparable United States storm-centred ARFs for these durations do not appear to be available.

Table 9

Limiting ARFs calculated from Ba/Bp

SAMPLE AREA	DURATION	20-yr Arf	<sup>B</sup> a	вр	Limiting Arf
1	l day	.91	12.0	14.4	.83
2	1 day	.89	8.8	11.0	.80
3	1 day	.89	7.1	7.9	.89
4	1 day	.90	11.8	13.2	,90
5	1 day	.82	6.6	10.1	.65
6	1 day	.85	11.6	15.2	.76
7	1 day	.82	8.8	12.8	.69
8	1 day	.84	14.6	18.1	,81
9	l day	.80	5.4	9.5	, 57
10	1 hr	.51	1.90	5.43	.35
10	2 hrs	. 59	2.40	6.10	. 39
11	l hr	.56	2.10	6.00	.35
11	2 hrs	.74	3.30	5.30	.62
12	l hr	. 44	2,40	6.27	.36
12	2 hrs	, 57	3.13	6,07	. 52
13	2 hrs	.91	9.12	10.32	.86
14	1 hr	.82	2.60	4.00	.65
15	1 hr	.85	3.90	4.75	,82

#### 8. FURTHER RESEARCH NEEDS

Although it may require a substantial amount of processing and computation there are ample daily rainfall data available in the United Kingdom to extend the above analyses of 24-hour ARFs to:

- (a) longer return periods.
- longer durations such as 2, 3 or more days, areas other than  $1000\ {\rm km}^2$ (b)
- (c)
- (d) non-circular areas.

Information on all of these would be useful in the further testing and refining of the Flood Studies ARFs for relatively long durations.

Unfortunately, hydrological needs more often involve shorter durations and the data situation for these is less satisfactory. A thorough investigation of short-duration ARFs would probably require at least 15 years of recording raingauge data from dense networks of stations representing the general range of meteorological conditions in the United Kingdom. It may be some years before such data become available, and their analyses could be a formidible task, even with the latest processing and computing techniques.

On the other hand, extreme rainfall data for durations of 1 or 2 hours show surprising consistencies over diverse and extensive areas (see Bell, 1969). This is apparently because such extremes are mainly due to local convection (ie. thunderstorm activity) which has similar space-time characteristics under a wide range of geographical conditions. The Flood Studies assumption that ARF is essentially constant throughout the United Kingdom therefore seems quite reasonable for short durations, and probably should be accepted until adequate data are available to show otherwise. Whether the Flood Studies ARFs for short durations should be adjusted to allow for the effects of return period is another matter, however, since the results of the present study suggest that such effects could be appreciable for long return periods and maximum rainfalls. Perhaps further light will be shed on this particular aspect when the analyses of the Greater London Council data are complete.

The question arises as to whether storm-centred ARFs (which may be derived from relatively short periods of data) provide more satisfactory estimates for very long return periods and maximum rainfalls than the fixed-area ARFs of the Flood Studies Report. It should be pointed out that the rationale for using storm-centred ARFs for maximum rainfall events is not completely convincing. Is there any reason why the maximum areal rainfall could not have a more uniform spatial distribution (and therefore higher ARF) than the "average" storm event? If not, the United States practice of using average storm-centred ARFs for PMP may be rather doubtful. Similar comments are relevant to possible applications of theoretical limiting values of ARF such as those estimated from the ratio  $B_a/B_p$  in Section 7. Before definite recommendations can be made

about these values, further investigations are needed into such matters as the suitability of the exponential frequency distribution for the total range of extreme rainfalls, and the influence of the assumed distribution on the calculations.

Some of the above issues might be clarified by appropriate research with theoretical models linking point and areal rainfall, such as that of Rodriguez-Iturbe and Mejia (1974). Evaluations of the parameters of these models could be made without dense networks of stations, although they would require data from a few closely spaced recording rain gauges in each meteorological region. The possible use of such models with the data of this study was one of the reasons for adopting the exponential frequency distribution as given by Equation (3). The relatively simple mathematical form of this distribution makes it more tractable in theoretical analyses than extreme value, log-normal and other commonly used distributions.

### 9. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Several of the criticisms of the areal rainfall section in the Flood Studies Report suggest that there is some misunderstanding of the areal reduction factor (ARF) in rainfall frequency estimation. In particular, the fixed-area ARFs of the Flood Studies Report have been confused with storm-centred ARFs of the type derived in the United States for purposes other than rainfall frequency estimation. The conceptual significance of the fixed-area ARF is more statistical than physical and it is probably best interpreted in terms of the areal and average point frequency curves, being simply the ratio of areal to point rainfall with the same return period.

The least equivocal method of deriving values of ARF appears to be directly from frequency curves of areal and average point rainfall, and this method has been used in the present study to check the values given by the Flood Studies Report. Nine circular areas of  $1000 \text{ km}^2$ were selected for the derivation of 24-hour ARFs from a common 14-year period of data. Six areas of varying size with 7 to 12 years of data were selected for the derivation of 1-hour and 2-hour values. Inaccuracies were expected due to the relatively brief records but estimates of the sampling errors in ARF showed that these were not excessive.

The main results of the analyses, as listed in Tables 3 and 7, show derived values of ARF that have reasonable agreement with the corresponding values of the Flood Studies Report. Although the variability between locations can be explained completely by sampling errors there may be a slight tendency for 24-hour ARFs to increase with latitude. The maximum discrepancy due to this effect is probably

### less than 3 per cent.

A statistically significant trend towards lower ARFs with longer return periods was found for both 24-hour and short-duration values. This suggests that the ARFs of the Flood Studies Report probably give conservatively high estimates of areal rainfall for the return periods commonly used for engineering design purposes (say, 10 to 100 yrs). The resulting bias may be of the order of 5 per cent for 24-hour durations and 10 per cent or more for 1-hour and 2-hour durations, but there is considerable uncertainty about the shortduration values because of the lack of suitable data for investigating these.

Although it is possible to make estimates of theoretical limiting values of ARF for maximum rainfalls and very long return periods, such estimates vary widely and definite recommendations concerning their use should not be made without further research. It may be worth while, also, to carry out research into the application of theoretical models linking point and areal rainfall, such as that of Rodriguez-Iturbe and Mejia (1974). These models might clarify some of the doubtful issues and possibly reduce the problems of brief records, inadequate spatial coverage and tedious data extraction.

Additional testing of the Flood Studies ARFs along the lines developed in this paper could be made with currently available daily rainfall data. This should involve longer records, durations greater than 24 hours, non-circular areas, and areas other than  $1000 \text{ km}^2$ . At the present time suitable data from recording raingauges is generally of insufficient length for comparable 1-hour and 2-hour analyses. Nevertheless, further information on short-duration ARFs might be provided in the near future from the Greater London Council data.

Although the evidence in this paper suggests possible variations in ARF that are not allowed for in the Flood Studies Report, these variations do not appear to be large when compared with inaccuracies due to sampling and other factors in practical applications of rainfall frequency estimates. When adequate periods of recording raingauge data become available from closely spaced stations in more northerly parts of the United Kingdom it should be possible to determine values of ARF with reasonable precision and confidence. This may eventually result in replacement of the present Flood Studies method of estimating areal rainfalls with a necessarily more elaborate method to allow for location and return period as well as for area and duration. With the present data situation, however, such refinement seems to have little justification as it would greatly increase the required computational effort for little overall improvement in accuracy.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out mainly at the Institute of Hydrology, Wallingford, while I was on study leave from the University of New South Wales. I would particularly like to thank Mr Max Beran of the Institute who maintained a close interest in the project, and who made many direct contributions. Thanks are given to Mrs Anne Sekulin who played a vital role in the development and testing of the computer programmes, and I am grateful to a number of other people at the Institute for their advice, information and direct assistance.

The Surrey and Chilterns data were kindly provided by the Meteorological Office, and Mr J. F. Keers, Mr M. Colgate and Mr M. Jackson of that department were most helpful in their discussion of the topic. The Greenwich data were made available by the Greater London Council through Mr V. Moorthy and his staff who were also very helpful.

Finally, I would like to thank the Director of the Institute, Dr J. S. G. McCulloch, who enabled me to experience the pleasant environment and excellent research facilities at Wallingford.

### REFERENCES

- Alexander, G.N., 1970. Heavy Rainfall as a Stochastic Process, Review of The International Statistical Institute, 38:1, 62-81.
- Bell, F.C., 1969. Generalized Rainfall-Duration-Frequency Relationships, Jnl. Hydraulics Division, Proc. Amer. Soc. Civ. Engnrs., HY 1, 311-327.
- Crow, E.L., Davis, F.A. and Maxfield, M.W., 1960. Statistics Manual, Dover N.Y., 288 pp.
- Hershfield, D.M., 1962. Extreme Rainfall Relationships, Jnl. Hydraul. Div, Proc. Amer. Soc. Civ. Engnrs.: HY 6, Nov 1962, 73-9.
- Holland, D.J., 1967. The Cardington Rainfall Experiment, Met. Mag., 96:1140, 193-202.
- Institution of Civil Engineers, 1975. Flood Studies Conference, London, May 1975, 66 pp.
- Kendall, M.G. and Stuart, A., 1961. The Advanced Theory of Statistics, Griffin and Co., London.
- Langbein, W.B., 1949. Annual Floods and the Partial Duration Flood Series, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Union, 30(6), 879-881.
- Lee, P.S., Lynn, P.P. and Shaw, E.M., 1974. Comparison of Multiquadric Surfaces for the Estimation of Areal Rainfall, Hydrol. Sci. Bull., XIX 39, 303-317.
- Linsley, R.K., Kohler, M.A. and Paulhus, J.H., 1949. Applied Hydrology, McGraw-Hill, N.Y.
- Mandeville, A.N. and Rodda, J.C., 197). A Contribution to the Objective Assessment of Areal Rainfall Amounts, J. Hydrol. (New Zealand) 9(2), 281-291.
- Natural Environment Research Council, 1975. Flood Studies Report (in five volumes).
- Rainbird, A.F., 1967. Methods of Estimating Average Areal Precipitation, Reports WMO/IHD Projects, Report No 3, WMO 45 pp.
- Roche, M., 1963. Hydrologie de Surface, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 430 pp.

Rodriquez-Iturbe, I. and Mejia, J.M., 1974. On the Transformation of Point Rainfall to Areal Rainfall. Wat. Resour. Res., 10(4), 729-73. Smith, R.E., 1974. Point Processes of Seasonal Thunderstorm Rainfall, Wat. Resour. Res., 10(3), 424-426.

U.S. Weather Bureau, 1958. Rainfall Intensity-Frequency Regime, 2, Southeastern United States, Tech. Paper 29, U.S. Dept. Commerce.

1

U.S. Weather Bureau, 1960. Generalized Estimates of Probable Maximum Precipitation, Tech. Paper 38, U.S. Dept. Commerce, Washington, D.C.

# Appendix A: PLOTTED FREQUENCY CURVES USED FOR DERIVATION OF ARF

# Notes on Symbols in Figures Al to Al8

- 1. Number in brackets after location refers to map reference number in Figure 7 and Table 4 of main text.
- In the sections headed "duration", (F) refers to fixed periods,
   ie. between standard times such as 9 am to 9 am or between fixed clock-hours. (U) refers to unrestricted periods.
- 3. Number in brackets after number of rainfall stations indicates actual number of stations used to determine average point frequency curve if this differs from the number of stations used to determine areal rainfalls.
- 4. Frequency Curves marked B and D were calculated directly from the data given in Vol II of Flood Studies Report. Annual maxima return periods were converted to POT return periods using the relationship given by Langbein (1949).



Fig.A1 Frequency Curves.

28 Computation of Areal Reduction Factor, LOCATION ABERDEEN (2) AREA: 1800 km<sup>2</sup> DURATION: 1 DAY(F) Number of rainfall stations: 14 (8) Period of data: Jan.1961-Dec.1974 (incl) RANK OF RAINFALL EVENT 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 MEAN POINT RAINFALL (mm) 74.7 53.5 43+8 42.4 39-1 36-9 38-0 35-2 33-7 AREAL RAINFALL (inm) 74 . 7 42 . 3 40.8 38-8 38-5 35-5 34-1 33-7 32 · 2 PLOTTING POSITION (yrs) 25 . 2 15 -52 3-87 3.10 2-54 2.15 P • 85 1.87 1-65 A-mean point rainfall by max likelihood (O) B -expected mean point rainfall from FSR C - areal rainfall by max likelihood (x) D - expected areal rainfall from FSR -28 х D .. AINFALL](mm)

145 1 20 RETURN PERIOD (years) RETURN PERIOD (yrs) · 2 5 10 20 0 . 95 0- 92 0 - 90 0-89 ARE FROM PREQUENCY ANALYSIS ARE EXPECTED FROM FSR 0 - 89

÷

LOCA	TION N	EWÇASI	ILE-HE	XHAM	(	3)	<b></b> .				ARE	A: ·	1000	km²		DUR	ATI	ON:	1 1	MY	(F	)	
Number	r et rail	nfall sta	ations:	19	(13)		-				Peri	od (	of di	ita:	Jan 1	<b>961</b>	Dec	: 1974	( in	<del>ا</del> ء	سيبر غميه		
RANK (	DF RAIN	FALL EV	/ENT		1	1	<u> </u>		2		3	4		5		6	-1-	ī	1	[	8		5
MEAN F	POINT R	AINFALL	(mm)	4 <b>Nagila bitaji ta</b> . ara 1	5	4-1	Ţ	47	•6	42.	8	40-4	• •	38:8		36-8		35-3	3	3		}	33-4
AFIEAL	RAINFAL	L (տո)		,	4	7•3	T	42	• 3	37.	2	36 -	7	35-5		34-3		32.0	)	3	)•4		29-6
PLOTT	NG POS	TION (	/rs)		2	25-2		1	+05	5	•52	3-	97	3.1	0	2.54		2.	15		+ 87	l	1.0
<u>_</u>			····	7	Ī	<u> </u>	T		П			<u></u>	[					<b></b>				7	
<u></u>								   													Í		
	A - mea	in point i	rainfall	by ma	× like	lihoo	o <b>d (</b> C	)	Π											· • ·			
<b>.</b>	B-exp	ected mea	an poin	t rainfa	l) fra	om E	SR	•	!	<b>_</b>						<u> </u>							
	C = are; D = exp	al rainfal ected ar	li by m eat rain	ax like Ifall fro	lihoo m FS	di() R	()																
					1	1	<u>i</u>	 	<u> </u>	·											-+	-	
						1																	
						-		<b>*</b>										ı					
					<u> </u>	<u> </u>		L		<u> </u>			   	· · ··· -									
		·····						L													-	-	
																B							
	) +				- <b> </b>											7				 1		-	
 												-	F			-	:				·	ŀ	
ے ۔ ا									F					x								1	
2 40	<b> </b>			4				2	1				 										
2		**	1	*	T																		-
	Frence A			<u></u>	+							·····		· · · · ·			-				_	-	
<b>A</b> -																							
		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	1		<u> </u>	1	†		<b></b>	<del></del>					•••••••		-+	;		+		-	
										÷													
																			T	T	T		
				- <u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>										1						4	
1			1	RE	5 TURI		ERI	מכ	10	**)		2		3	J	40	50	ł					
						ſ			1			]								]			
ETURN	F.SRIOD	(yrs)				1	2	Ţ	5		10	Ţ	20										
RF TRO	M FREQI	V YDRAL	NALYS	IS		0-1	9		0 • 89	Į	0-89	0	- 89										

3

GCATION	BELFAST	(4)					ARE	A: 100	<b>le km</b> ²	1	D	URAT	ION:	1 [	DAY (	F)	
umber of ra	infall stati	ons: 35 (1	:0)				Peri	od of	data	a: Ja	n 1961	- Dec	1974				
NEC OF RAI	NFALL EVE	NT	1		2	3	-	4	- <b>T</b>	5	6			 7			j .
EAN POINT	RAINFALL (	mm)	\$1.3	•	55·5	49-7		6.2	43	-9	41 .	8	38-	4	36.		35 -7
BAL RAINF	LL (nm)		78.	7	49-2	43-3		13.3	41	•6	35.	1	33-	9	32.	• • • • • • •	31.5
OTTING PO	SITION (yrs)	)	254	2	2.05	5.5	2	3-97	3	. 10	2.	54	2	15	1.1	37	1 • 65
			<u> </u>		<b>T</b> ] -				·				. <u></u>		<u> </u>	71	
A - me	an coint rai	nfall by ma	e titeatite	~~`~~. wel (r)				1			I		·	-   		+  	
B = ex	Pected mean	point rainfa	ili from	FSR	·     _												
C ~ ar	al rainfall b	)y max like	lihood	(×)													
D-ex	pectad areal	l rainfall fro	m FSR		; 												
	<u> </u>							 								+ +	
	<b></b>		┼──┝		-+		<u> </u>		<u>a</u>			<b></b> -	·		\. [	+	
										$\rightarrow$	A						
¦ <b></b>	<u> </u>		·├				· · <b>_ · ·</b> ·	$\Rightarrow$	/				 			N	
									_	-8							
	······································		+		$\mathcal{T}$		/		<b>-</b>	-0							
				1				- +									
					1-												
40			×-	-  -		·						. <u> </u>					
		- † -						-				: . 					
	<u>  </u>				- -	_ <b></b>	·		<u> </u>				 				
						•							Į				
-20	┼╴┈╸		┼╌┾		╺╼┝╼┝		··-··		<u> </u>			<b>`</b>	<b> </b>		<u> </u>		
						:			•								
<b>_</b> {	<u> </u>		+ +		-+			<u>·</u>	· · ·	- +-			 	$\left  - \right $			
						÷											
16	2 9	4	•		1			29		30	4		0				
			FRIOD	(year	•)   •								]				
						1		1		(							
TURN PERIO	D (yrs)			2	1 5		10		÷								
P FROM FRS	OURNCY AN	ALYSIS		0 • 90	0+9	0	0+90	0	• 90	*							

Fig.A4 Frequency Curves.

LOCA	TION NOR	місн (5)							AF	tEA:	1000 ki	m²		Dĺ	IRAT	10N:	1 1	YAC	(F)	
Number	of rainfall	stations :	31 (14	)					Pe	riod	of d	ata:	Ja	Ln 19	61 D	ec 19	14 (1	incl	)	
RANK C	F RAINFALL	EVENT		1	1	<u> </u>	2	1	3	1	4	5		6			7	r	R	9
MEAN F	OINT RAINF	ALL (mm)		60	+1		13 • 6		38+8	35	1-7	33+	•	31.	6	30	5	2	9•3	26.1
AREAL	RAINFALL (m	m)	, <u> </u>	48	•3	3	16 · I	9	35.9	30	•8	30-	2	29	3	28	0	2	7+4	26 . :
PLOTTI	NG POSITION	N (yrs)	<u></u>	25	•2			95	552	3	97	3.1	0	2	-54	2	15		1. 87	1.
			· · · · ·		1		<b>—</b>				1	<u> </u>	7			]				1
																			ļ	
	A # moon on	int rainfall (			<b>.</b>	 (C)	, - - ,									<b>-</b>	<u>}</u>	- 		
	B-expected	mean point	rainfal	i froi	mao m F	SR	1									. <u> </u>	ļ			4
	C - areal rai	nfall by ma	x likeli	ihood	4 (×	()														
	D expected			• • • • • • 	τ. Γ.								+							
					[															1
	<b>├</b>				┝	┝╌┝			<u></u>		+		+			-				1
														ĺ						
					1										· •• •• •• ••					1
<b></b> ,																<u> </u>				
~																				
<u> </u>			<u> </u>		 		_					<b>.</b>	B		L					-
IFALL											1	-					Í	: .		
1 2 2 C	•			<u>.</u>		┢╸╢		1	/	2		×		····	****-*				-+-	-  . 
				_	-	1	7				+		1							
		1-		X		Ħ	-	7								1				
		X																		4
	A A			;																
						┝╌┤	+									-				4
						ŀ														
	<b> </b>				-	╞╌┥			<b>-</b>				+					┝╌╁		1
											.									
1	5 2	•	4 9	\$		$\uparrow$		10			20		30	4		50				1
			RETUR	N	PER	ОD	4			<u> </u>		<del></del>								]
RETURN	PERIOD (Vrs	)				2	- <u>1</u>	. 5	19		20									
	M FREDHEN		IS		0	95	╌┼╌	0-86	0.86		0-82									
		rcp					╈					-1								

Computation of A	Areal Re	ouction Fa	ictor,	1					
LOCATION PLYMOUTH (6)			ARE	A: 1080 k	m	DURAT	ION: 1	DAY (F)	
lumber of rainfall stations: 31 (:	23)	····	Peri	iad of di	ata: De	c 1961 — .	Jan 1974 (	incl)	
ANK OF RAINFALL EVENT	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
TEAN POINT RAINFALL (mm)	118-0	58.5	53.7	51.0	48-8	46.5	45-2	43-8	42.1
REAL RAINFALL (nom)	1160	43 • 1	42-6	42.3	41-9	41.8	41.0	39.9	38-8
LOTTING POSITION ( yrs)	25 • 2	9 - 05	5-52	3 • 97	3.10	2.54	2.15	1-87	1.65
······································	······································	····				······································		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<b>L</b>
		- <b> </b>     - → →   <del>-  </del>				· · ·			
Ammean point rainfall by max	likelihood	(0)			ľ	ł			
B=expected mean point rainfall	from FSI	₹  ¦	· · -				┞┈┠┈	┝─┼┈┼─┨	
D = expected areal rainfall from	FSR								
							<mark>├──</mark> ╎╾╍	┝╍┅┝╼╍┼╼╍╏	
						Δ			
		┨╴┼╺┼─┈						┝╍╌┝╼╍┠╼╍┠	
						_s			
80	── <b>┤·</b> ━╾┼·	╶╁╼│╍╆╾╾		7-	<u>د ا</u> ــــ	0		┝╌╼┝╾╼╊╍┛╏	
			//		-1-				
	╾┟╼┿			1					
			· · ·						
60									
	ē								
					·····	· ·			
X X X X	x								
20		_							
					1				
							<u> </u>		
					<u>-</u>			┨╴┨ <b>╞</b> ┨╌┅┼╍╺╄╼╺┨	
115 2 3 4 1	URN PEI	RIOD (years)	)		30	40	aU		
							1		
ETURN PERIOD (vrs)	2	5	10	20		<u></u>			<u></u>
UE ENCOM ERECTIANCY ANALYSIS	0+9	0 0+88	0 . 86	0.85					
DE CYGENTER EDAM ESS	0.1	9	!						

ARF-EXPECTED FROM FSR

LOC	ATI	ON	GRENDO	DN-UND	ERWOO	DD (	(7)	_			-	AR	EA:	1000	(m <sup>£</sup>		D	URAT	10N :	1	DAY	<u>(</u>	F)	
Numb	Jer (	of rai	nfall sți	ations :	37	(19)	)					Pei	boi	of d	ala:	Ja	n 196	1 - De	ic 197	14	(incl	I)		
RANK	OF	RAIN	FALL E	лемц	-, <del>, ,-</del> ,	<u> </u>	1	Ĩ		2		3		4			(	5		7	<u> </u>	8		9
MEAN	N PO	UNT R	APPEAL	L (mm)		72	•7	Ť	55	•2	4	9-1	42	• 2	37	• 9	35	•4	34-	0	3	2 • 6		32.0
AREA	L R	AINFA	LL (mm)			65	i • 8	ĺ	44	•2	3	7 '8	37	• 5	35	• 4	33	•0	32 -	6	3	0 • 1	7	30 ·
PLOT	TING	3 POS	ITION (	yrs)	···-	25	j·2		9	• 05		5-52	3	• 97	3	- 10	2	· 54	2	• 15		1 • 1	87	1- (
		· · · ·					<u> </u>		<b> </b>	Π				1		Т			<u> </u>			T	٦	
							1		ļ															
		A <del>⊶</del> me	an point	rainfall	by max	likel	ihoo	d ((																
	] I	C=exp	ected me	an point	rainfal	l froi	m F	SR			! 													
		C = are	al rainfa Josted of	ul by ma real raini	ax likeli fall anom	ihoad . Es c	1 (×	)																
							` I	 1	1			······		+					┼╍┉				_	
							l											1		ŀ				
		<u></u>				··	 															 ·		
																						Ţ		
						<b></b>	<u> </u>	<b> </b> _	<b> </b>			<u> </u>		_	•		<u>.</u>			<b> </b>				
Ĩ															×	1								
₅ ╤╴╌	<b>\$0</b>					<b></b> .			<u> </u>	-							-C		-				_	
AINE	ĺ									₽			_		-	-0								
- <b>a</b>			·····			•	-	F		F				+									-	
		• :									-			ľ				ľ						
	••		0.0	e de la compañía de l		×	-	1		Ì											(·			
<u></u> .			XX		1					<u> </u>	 			,		_		ļ		ļ		_		
	ł																	ļ				1		
<u>_</u>	20							<b> </b>				<b></b>	<b></b>	_				 						
					╺┼┅┈╢		<u> </u>		┢	┢╌									+				~	
																						ł		
	15		2			5		DE				<u></u>		20		30	4	•	50	<u> </u>				
				<u> </u>		κ <u>ε</u> 1 U					Ny Carl	•/ 			<u></u>									
12111	RN F	15BIUI	) (yrs)					 2			5	10	i	29	[		<u></u>							<b></b>
		A EDE4		AMAIVe	15		) · • •	93		0.	•	0.85		0 .82						•				
чачат. • <del></del>							   .						à		<sup>8</sup>									

LOCA	TION	PLYNLI	MON	(8)							ARE/	<b>A</b> :	1000	km <sup>±</sup>		DL	JRAT	TON	:	1 D	AY	(	F)
umber	of ra	infall sta	ations :	25	(12)	)					Peri	bd	of d	ata:	Ja	n <b>19</b> 6	<b>51 -</b>	Dec	1974	(in	c1 )		
ANK C	F RAI	NFALL EV	/ENT		T	1	T	2		3	). 	4		5		6		,	7	7-	۱۰۰۰-۲۰۰۰ ۲		9
EAN P	OINT P	RAINFALL	(mm)		11	7+4	T	91 •	3	81	•	70	•5	66 ·	4	64	1.0	81	•3	+	i9 (	3	57.5
REAL	RAINFA	iLL (mm)			10	1•2		16 - (		66	+1	60	.7	55 ·	4	49	• 9	49	• 6		9. :	3	48 . 7
LOTTH	NG POS	SITION (y	rs)		2	5.2		9.	95	5	•52	3.	97	3.	10	2	- 54	2	• 15	Ì	1.8	17	1.6
	-						ſ	Ť	<b>—</b>								<u></u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>				·
		 			. <b></b> .				-			=-	 						-	 			
	A−me	an point r	ainfall I	iy max	likeli	ihood	<b>(</b> 0)	,	1				]						[				
	B = exp	ected mea	an point	rainfall	fron	n FS	R		;	<b></b> .		<b>.</b>					J			-			
	D = exp	ected are	eal rainf	all from	1000 FSR	1 (×. ?	,							< v	1			Ì				Í	
-100			T				İ	1	╈			/			+	-+			┟╴	<u> </u>			
													_	/	<u>-с</u>					İ			
								Ţ	7		-	~				,					•		
		· ·					$\triangleleft$	1				_											
••					$\mathbf{}$		1	r		/	/ /	- 1	Ī										
	,				-			4	1	-			 						<u> </u>	ļ			
			-							•													
60		-	1					-			<b></b>		 	•••••			·						
			x																				
	Íx	xx		+	<b></b>	4		-					<u> </u>				_ <b>..</b>						
	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,							·											ł				
40-			•				-+	╈	~						1			┾╺╍ │	İ			-1	
:																							
			-					1							-								
90				 											_			 	Ļ				
10		   .																					
								_					ļ		<u> </u>		<b></b>					┝╍┨	
ī	5	2							10	· · · · · · · · ·			! 20		30		) !	 \$10			$\vdash$		
						F	ET	IRN	PER	100	years	)					-						
	······································				·····	ا م 		 	 	 		 1		i								م	<u></u>
TURN	PERIOI	U (yrs)				2			5 	-	۲IJ •••••	+	20	-									
F FRC	IN TREC	JUENCY /	SAALSI				•0	-1			•••••	1	v 64										

.

Fig.A8 Fraquency Curves.

LOCA	TION	RIVER	DEE	(	9)						ARE	A: 1	000 km	1 <b>*</b>		URA	NON:	1	DAY	(F)	
Number	r of ra	infall st	ations :	31 (1	3)						Per	iod a	of dat	a: .	Jan 19	61 - D	ec 197	4 (i	ncl)		
RANK (	OF RAI	NFALL E	VENT		T	1			2		3	4	- T	5		6		7	<u> </u>	8	9
MEAN I	POINT	RAINFAL	L (mm)		6	i <b>6</b> •5	Ì	5	9·7	5	3-9	51 ·	2	<b>48</b> ·2	44	ŀ 9	43	4	•	2.4	41 - 8
AREAL	RAINF	LL (mm)	}		6	i <b>4</b> -9		4	8.7		19-5	39.	5	38 - 9	3	8.7	38	4	3	<b>8</b> -2	37.8
PLOTTI	NG PO	SITION (	yrs)		2	:5-2		9	-05		5-52	3.1	7	3 - 11		:•54	2	• 15	1.	<b>8</b> 7	1.6
	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		1	Ţ	<u> </u>	<del> </del>														
·····	A - me	an point	rainfall i	iw may	( like			<u></u>										Ì		Ī	
<u> </u>	B-ex	Pected m	əan point	rainfa	li fro	m F	SR										<b>_</b>				
	C - an	eal rainfa	all by ma	ux likel	lihoo 	d () n	0														
		Pected 9	real raint		n FS	r: 						·			·			 			
							ŀ														
	+					<b> </b>	+-	╀	$\left  \right $							╂──	+				
		1						ļ													
	)	+	·		<u> </u> .		<u> </u>	ł				•				+				+-	1
										1		į			.8						
	1			1	<b>†</b>	$\square$	ţ-					/		7	_	-	1			╈	
	<b>_</b>										2				~D						
Î					-		-	1	Ħ												
۔۔۔۔ چ	<b>_</b>	ļ		-	1		ļ.,		Ł			_			C						
ALND			1		<u>t</u> -	ţ_	┢	╇	Η												
2	Le ge	-	×	*	*		<u> </u>				<del></del>					+					
	F																				
<u> </u>	· · · ·			<u> </u>		+		-	H		<b></b>					+	<u> </u>		┉┝	+-	
													•								
		<u> </u>		†	<b> </b>	1	<b>†</b>	+	╞╴┨							-	<u> </u>			-	
																.					
													- <u></u>			1					
							· .									1					
1	<b>Б</b>	-	3	1	S RE1	TUR	N F	¥P		- /v=	ars)	2	)	3	D	<b>4</b> 0	10		ſ		
	<u> </u>	Į		<u> </u>						(4-3)											
TURN	PERIO	) (yrs)	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		2				5	19		20	Γ		<u></u>					
SE FR	IM FRE	UENCY		S		0.	<b>89</b>	┥	0 • 1	84	0 - 81	   0	• 60								
100 PM		COASE PT						╡				<b>.</b>									

:

t

t

Į

OCAT	ION	SURREY	r (10)							A	REA: 10	00 km	2	DU	IRATI	0N:	1 HC	UR	(U)	
mp≖r	of rai	nfali sta	tions: 8	(7)						P	eriod of	data	: 195	8 - 19	69 (	incl.	)			
ANK D	F RAIN	FALL EV	ENT *		1	1		2	T	3	4		5	6		7	T		Ŗ	9
EAN P	OINT R	AINFALL	(mm)		28	.4	2	0-8	1	7.8	18-3	14	•7	14.	0	12-3	2		,	
REAL I	RAINFA	LL (mm)			15	. 7	1	0.7	1	D·2	10-2	91	5	9.6	5	8-89				   
OTTIN	IG POS	ITION (	rs) 🕷		21	.1		7-26		4-21	2.87	2.	12	1.6	3	1.29				<u> </u>
				<b></b>			T	T٦	,					]				T		
v==,	 				انداند انادهانا	hood i	( <sub>()</sub> )			<u> </u>										
	A = me B = ext	an point lected me	raintai i an point	rainfa	l fron	n FSI	a.		) 				+				$\left  \right $	+	-	
	C - are	eal rainfa	ill by ma	ix likel	lihood - ree	(x)			Į					i						
	D - exi	pected at	real rain	ian roi 	п ғъм Т – Т	: 		1	 						<u></u>	+	╏─┤			
			ĺ																	
<b>_</b>			····	╉━	+	┠┈┝		-+-								1				
				ł			[								 	<u> </u>				+
		┼╌━╼		-{	<del> </del>		1					[	ł		ł					
												<b> </b>			- <b> </b>					
												Į –		в						
<u>1</u>						┇╌╌╏		_ ·					7	<u> </u>				Ē		
E			ļ							-	/									
		_ <u>_</u>						┟╌┟	+	-		+	 		-+			L NFA		-
INFA			ł			17	$ \vdash$	H	1						_					
<u>4</u> 2	•			1	+	7-	╂─	╁╌┼	-†					Ď						ł
		1 -										<u></u>		ع			╞			
	Ē	1				$\overline{+}$	-	1	$\downarrow$			1		1						
				=+-	-+	+-	1							 				╸┼╌	╋	
	•		1																	
							+	-		<b>.</b>				+	<b> -</b>				+	
								ļ												
		_ <u> </u>					+	+	10			20		310	40	50		1		
	٩	T .	Ī		R	етµя	2	PEF		(у	ars)			_						
	ł				Ă↔	╼═┻╼ ╼═╾╕══╸					47	20	1	Ra	nked.	value	s ar	e ar	inual	series
11211	INN PER	1100 (yrs	)				2		5		10 	0-51	)   	but	t plot	ting	posi	tior T -	ns hi	we bee
Lone	FROM F	REQUEN	CY ANA	N:515			0.6	<b>6</b>		1		1	1	C01	verte	d to	4U	, 8	91193	

.

LOCA	TION	SUI	RREY	(10)	)						ARE	A:1		km		DURA	TION	: 2	HO	IRS	s (L	<u>v)</u>
Number	of ra	infall sta	ations :	8 (5	•)					-	Per	iod	of d	ata:	1958	- 196	9 (ir	101)				
RANK C	OF RAI	NFALL EV	ENT	¥	Т	1	T		2		3		;		, <u>,</u>	6	Γ	7	Ţ_	8		
MEAN F	OINT I	RAINFALL	(mm)		3	4.9		26	. 5	-25	.4	2 1	.5	19	.7 1	9,5	17	. 0	1			
AREAL		LL (mm)			1	9.1		19	• 0	1 0	.0	15	. 8	.14	.7 1	4.8	14	.2				
PLOTTI	NG POS	SITION (y	/rs)	*	2	1,1		7	. 26		.21	2	. 87	2	.12	1.63	1	.29				*
	<u> </u>	]	Ţ	1	Ţ	]	1		<b></b>				T	···=		·		1	1	Ī	-1	
																						• .
	A-me	an point i	rainfall !	by max	likel	ihon	d ((	"				-				T		T				
	B-exp	ected me	an point	rainfal	ll froi	m F	SR		<b> </b>				ļ	:.		4	<u> </u>					
	C - are D - exi	al rainfal	l <b>i by</b> ma eal raini	x like) all fmn	ihood n FSF	4 (×	:)						ļ									
58								i l	_				<b> </b>			+						
							.   															
· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				<u> </u>			<b>†</b>				<u></u>	- <u> </u>		- <b></b>			-	1		-+		
	 	ļ			ļ	<b> </b>					<b></b>											
															-8					T		
							L		_		 هر	~	سط	2	1		-					
											1											
2 30									7		· · ·	<b>-</b>						30	┞╾┤	-	-	
רר (י				2				-					-					·				
NFA			$\square$					·				<u> </u>			1	1	1	1-		$\uparrow$	1.	
_ ₹ 20			<b>'</b>	ļ			Ŀ					<u> </u>		_	<b>≁</b> ∽		<u> </u>	-				
		ļ _	1-			┝╍┥	-		╈													
	<u>n</u>			$\vdash$			┝╌┨		+											-	-	
				1	-				+			<u> </u>	<b> </b>	<u> </u>		<b>--</b>		10	$\left  \cdot \right $	-+	-	
								ſ							-					T	1	
			ļ										<u> </u>				ļ	L.		╺╌┼╌		
1	1.5 2	8	3	5	RET	UR	N	PEI	1  0 RI 0	D' (y	•ars)	20		. 3 (	41	50						
				] :				L					<u>}</u>		L	<u> </u>	<u> </u>					
ETURN	PERIOD	(yrs)				2			5		10	Ι	20	*	Rank	ed v	alui	t in	17 <b>0</b>	ал 005	nua iti/	si ons
RF FRO	M FREQ	UENCY A	NALYSI	 3		0.	73	Т	0.6	•	0.62	T	. 5 9		eries ave b	990 - 1 991 - 1	0 10 1 C 0 0 V	ert.	≠ ' ed	to	PO	T

LOCA	TION	SURREY	( (11)							ARE	A: 10	0 km²		bu	RATIC	IN:	1 н	OUR	(u)	
lamber	r of ra	unfall, st	ations :	3						Peri	ort o	f data:	195	8 - 196	9 (inc	I)		·····		
ABK C	OF BAI	WFALL N	VENT 4	•	1 1			2	3					G		7	1		 3	9
(EAN )	POINT	RAINFAL	է (ուռ)		29.	8	24	đ	18.	9	17.7	15.	9	15-0	(-	14.5	Ť	***		n ge regene 174
REAL	RAINE	M.L (mm)		*****	17.	1	13	+ <b>6</b>	13.	1	12.7	12.	6	10-8		10.7	Ī			- 94 9 (Jan ************************************
LOTTI	NG PO	SITION (	yrs) 🔻		21.1		7.	26	4.2	1	2 · 8	7 2	12	1.63		1.29				
					T	·		<b></b>						··	<b></b>			1		
				ļ		Ì	ļ													
				}			ة مستحد مدي	┾╁												
	A-m	ean point	rainfall	by ma	cijkelik	bood	(0)							ļ						
***	B-ex	pected m	saa point 	rainfa Sono	ill from	F5	8			·····					┈╾┼	-			+	
	D-e	ear rain) opected "	an oy na waal rain	ix uxe fall fro	m 75R	(^)											ţ	1		
					<u> </u>	 i		<u>-</u>								<u> </u>			-41	
											ļ									
		<b></b> -			┿╍━╋	-+	-					<b></b> ^	-+-					-		
	ţ		ļ																	
	0							•	<b></b> -	- <b></b>	· •			1		[		1	Ĩ	
	{																			
				··																
(m	ļ								-				-	.В						
-y*	ie		• · ·			[	·	•••			/	0						1		
INF			.								-		}	~						
<u>*</u>							•													
					$\square$					<u> </u>					   					
	20			-				1						~		1		ļ		
			·		1-	1						¥-	-1							
							×													ļ
	-				ĺ	ļ								<b></b>		<b>_</b>	ļ			
	10	·····	••••	<b>-</b> [•		-														
	ł				ļ							_ <u> </u>	ļ	·		 	<u> </u>			-
<u>-</u>																				
											- <u></u>				<u> </u>		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	┵╎╾	-
	15	2	\$	1	\$				1 <b>0</b>			20	3		40	SP				
		l			RET	 			Ч( <sup>784</sup>	·•)		·   		,\	1	-	   			-
			······································	~~~~						ΤC			*	Rank	ed va	liues	are	ลกเ	nual	series
182703	28 263	(of) (yrs)	)				2	1	د 			7.U 		but	plottin	ig po	sitio	ns ł	1åve	been
DOOP F	FROM F	REGULAI	<u>17 (2014)</u>	(3)5			.75	_!_	<b>J • 84</b>	10.3			-	COUA	erted <sup>:</sup>	to PC	)T se	ries	•	

# Fig. A12 Fraquency Curves.

LOCATION SURREY (	1)		AR	EA: 100	km <u>s</u>	DURA	TION: 2	HOURS (U
Number of rainfall stations: 3			Per	riod of a	data; 19	58-19	69 (incl	)
RANK OF RAINFALL EVENT	1 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	в
MEAN POINT RAINFALL (mm)	32.0	27.4 2	5.3	22.4	21.0	19.7	16.8	<u> </u>
AREAL RAINFALL (mm)	22.0	21.5	21:2	17.3	16,9	16.1	15.6	
PLOTTING POSITION (yrs)	21.1	7.26	4,21	2.87	2.12	1,63	1.29	
		1 1 1		<u> </u>			1-1-1	
A=mean point rainfall by may	likolihaad (						╈╍┓	
B = expected mean point rainfa	from FSF	~						
C = areal rainfall by max like	ihood (X)							
area raintal tro	- I-SK						╎╴┠╷╽	
				İ				
		┥┦╢╌╸					┼╌┠╴┼	
					·			╶┼╌┼╼┨
					B			
				1		-		
Ē - 30   · -								
		FT .		[				\$
2					C	··	┝╼┠╼┼	
X X	- []*	+		×				ALA
		╏╴┨╶┠┈╴╼					20	
			<b>-</b>				10	
		╘╌┟┈┟┈━━						· <del>     </del>
					ļ			
152 3 4 5		10		20	30	10 50		
	ETURN	PERIOD (	years)					
TURN PERIOD (vrs)				1		kad ve		~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
		( · 3	10	20			1.419 a.C.	5 annual

Fig.A 13 Frequency Curves.

		Compu	tation	of /	Area	I Re	du	icti	оп	Fac	tor.											
LOCA	FION	CHILT	ERNS		(12)	)	_				ARE	A: 8	880 k	cm <sup>2</sup>	D	URAT	ION	: 1	но	UR	(F	)
lumber	of ra	infall stat	tians :	14							Per	o boi	of dat	ta :	1981	- 19	69	(inc	1)			
ANK O	F RAI	NFALL EV	ENT	*	1	1	T	2			3	4		5		5		7	í		i	 (i
IEAN P	OINT I	RAINFALL	(mm)		2	3.1	1	16.	2	13	.2	11.	3	11.	1 10	•1					<u> </u>	
REAL I	RAINF	ALL (mm)			1	0.3		8.	2		-4	5.	9	5.	7 5	.3			İ			
LOTTIN	IG POS	SITION (yr	s)	*	1!	5.8		5.	33	3.	. 04	2.	0 2	1.4	14 1	.0 6			Ì			
		r	1						<u> </u>	•			~		[	~ <b>~ ~ ~</b> ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~	1 <b>-</b>	, <b></b>			7	
		ſ																ļ				
	A - ma	an point ra	linfall h	,	المعادية. المعادة		10		$\top$									.; 				
	B−exp	ected mea	n point i	rainfal	l fron	n FS	R	1	-								<b></b>	<u> </u>				
	C = are	al rainfall	by max	likeli	ihood	(×)	•															
	n – ex	ecceu are:	ai raima	n trom	i rofi	κ 	. 1			·	<u>.                                    </u>						 	<u> </u>				
																		1				
			<b> </b>				╾┼	-+			<u>.</u>		·			!					-	
-40	·····	<u>+</u>							╈									40				
								T													]	
È 30																		90	4		_	
			1												-6				J J	-		
I V I	<del></del>					-	╾┦	+	+-			4	2						IEAL			
Z + Z									$\downarrow$	-							ļ		ALA			•
<u>د</u> 20						-	7	4										20	H H			
					0										]							
	//								-						[		1				1	
				 						وروان المراجع		_		C	ļ 	 		1.0				
Ĩ					***		-	7	T						Ì						}	
		+=====		ļi	 				_						<b> </b>			<b>_</b>			4	
<u>.</u>	4 5 9								•			2.0		3.6	40	50		╏			$\frac{1}{2}$	
	1.9 2		]		RET	UR	N	PEI	RIO	D ()		 5)		• •								
		L	<u> </u>	<u>.</u>	L	┖╶ <u>╶</u> ┩	í	 	<u> </u>	<u> </u>					·····		· · · · ·			<b>⊦</b> -	, 	
TURN	PERIO	D (yrs)				2		╞	5		10		20	.	Rani	ced v	valı 	ues time	ar) L P	Bali Neif	nnu: Iorr	a t
RE FRO	im fre	QUENCY A	NALYSIS	5	<del>.</del>	0 :	53	_	0.4		0.4		0.44	-   ,	ave b	eut ș sen	con Con	vert	i po tedi	to	POI	Г

Fig.A 14 Frequency Curves.

LOCAT	ION	CHILT	FERNS		(12)					ARE	A: 8	000	k m <sup>2</sup>	ים	JRAT	ION:	2 +	00	RS	(F)
Number	of rai	nfall st	ations :	14						Peri	od o	of da	ata; 1	961	- 19	69 (	(inc	1)		
RANK O	F RAIN	IFALL E	VENT	*	1		:	2	3		4	T	5		,	7	,		8	9
MEAN P	OINT F	AINFAL	է (ուտ)		30	1	2 2	1,1	19	.1	17.	7	15.	1 1	.7					
AREAL I	RAINFA	LL (mm)			17.	6	13	.2	11	:3	10.	•	9.3		1.8			L		
PLOTTIN	IG POS	SITION (	yrs)	*	15	. 6	5	.33	3	.04	2 -	02	1,4	4	.06					
	· · ·					Ţ								<u>.</u>					T	
							_  													· .
	A∽me	an point	rainfali t	y max	likelih	ood	(റ)													
	B−ext	ected m	san point	rainfal	l from	FS	R									<u> </u>	┠╌╏	,	+	
	D = ex	pected a	real rainf	all from	nood FSR	(7)														
····	. <u> </u>	1					i			<u></u>					 					
													<b>-</b>							
						-														
		<b> </b>				_		┣-┿-						 			40			
		1																		
P						+		┝╍┝╺				<u> </u>							┈┼╌┨	
ŝ					·				÷	-	1	P	ι -					4		
Ĕ 30						  -  -		け	ジ			<b>†</b>					30	€		
ALL						4	Ł	H								<u> </u>		T		
INF	1			1	-						•							INE		
< <del></del>			-	<b>[</b>				┢				<u> </u>					20	RA		
	1-1	ē.	ĺ									fc								
<u></u>	F	+				╺┾	+									+		╞╌┦╸		
			+																	
	-																			
						_						ļ					<u> </u>			
	1.5 2	<u> </u>	3	4 5	┞╍╍┼	-		10			20		30	40	51	Di .	╞			
		1			RETI	JR	i Pi	RIO	D (y	• = 15)	)									
	J				.! 	L	<u>.</u>	4I 			····	J						re #	 	
RETURN	PERIO	ם (yrs)				2		5	_	10		20		· KANK Bries	but	plo	ttin	g pi	bsiti	ons
ARF FRO	DM FRE	QUENCY	ANALYS	5		0.	83	0.5	-	0.54		0,5	h	ave be	en d	:onv	ert	ed i	to	РОТ

.

LOCAT	TON	GREENWICH	G.L.C.		(13				AR	EA:	100 ki	m <sup>2</sup>		DU	RAT	ION:	2	100	RS	(v)	
Number	of r	ainfall station	s: 9						. Pe	riod	ofc	iata:	July	/ 1960	-	June	197	6(in	c1)		
RANK O	F RAI	NFALL EVENT		1	;		2	1	3		4	5		6				Г	8	1	9
MEAN P	DINT	RAINFALL (mr	n)	32	• 6	2	2•4	┈╸┡━╸	16.7	14	• 9	12 - 8	-	9.6	! 			¦		╺┝╸	
AREAL F	RAINE	ALL (mm)		27	.6	21	• 0		16. 8	14	• 8	12.7	,	9 - 4				1	884 <b>ba</b> r 7 <b>a</b>		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
LOTTIN	G P <b>O</b>	SITION (yrs)		14	.5	5	5 - 2		3 • 17	2	•28	1.7	8	1 • 4	6					Ĺ	
		<u></u>				<u> </u>	7-7					<u> </u>	<u></u>			<u></u>	<b>-</b> - 1	, <del></del> Ţ		1	
Ĩ				1																	
	Δ = m	an noint valut			مىرى قىرىيە 14 يىرى ب	~~~	Í	<b> </b>			+		<b> </b>						•	-	
	A − an B = ex	pected mean po	int rainfall	from	FSR	5)															
1	C = ar	eal rainfall by	max likelil	hood	(×)																
	D - 6X	pected areal ra	Intali trom	-58 			+	<u>.</u>			·									_	
			╼╍┧┈╍┾								-								-+-		
																				ľ	
40						-			···· <b>···</b>			<u>A</u>	<b>-</b> B	.c					╈	-	
									-%	7			-	-Ρ							
Ē 30	····.	<u> </u>						/		_			ļ						_	-	
				_ +	· [		Ł		/x	-											
AN I					Ł	$\mathbf{k}$	F						<b> </b>							-	
~		1		2	1						1										. '
	/			—- <b> </b> -			┼─	· · · -			+			-++-					-†	-	
		- 1																			
ř	. 97			-																	
											<b>_</b>		<u> </u>						_	4	
								ļ						Í							
											+	·	<b>.</b>							-	
																	Ì				
 1	<u></u> 5	2 3	••••			╉		  D			20		3 <b>0</b>	40	5	 10					
			RETUR	N FE	RID	<u>۱</u> (	yea	5)													
	0.5.0.							6													
GETURN	TERIC		Moto		л. 64			0 • 92			20										
INF FRO	or 1.82	COOL COD	1913				ŀ										•				

LOCATION GRENDON-UNDERWOO	D (14)		AR	EA: 20 kn	n <sup>1</sup>	DURAT	10N: 1	HOUR (F)	
Number of rainfall stations: (3)			Pe	riad of d	ata: J <b>an</b>	1964 - Dec	: 1975 (inc	a)	
ANK OF RAINFALL EVENT	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
MEAN POINT RAINFALL (mm)	20.5	14-0	12.0	10-1	9+8	9 • 1	8+5	8.0	
AREAL RAINFALL (mm)	16 - 9	12 • 1	9+9'	9-8	9-8	g · 2	8 - 3	<b>₹</b> •2	
PLOTTING POSITION (yrs)	21 • 6	7-77	4 • 73	3 • 40	2 · 66	2 · 18	1 - 85	1 • 40	
A - mean point rainfall by max	likelihood	(0)							
B - expected mean point rainfal	from FS	R			· _				
C = areal rainfall by max likeli D = expected areal rainfall from	hood (×) FSR								
							┝╌╏╌╎		
				1					
			<u></u>			+	┼──┠─┉┦		
		╺┼╶┦┈┦╌━							
				·					
			<del></del>				╞╼╌┠╌╴┞		
	-   +				·			╺┼┼┨	
<u></u>						В			
			_			D			
2					•		┝──┠──┡		
	-[-[-	.111			x	c			
							┝──┠──┾	╾┼╼┦╼┩	
Line and a									
		+++							
					}				
115 2 3 4 B		10		20	30	40 5	0		
RETU	N PERIO	o (Jears)							

RETURN PERIOD (yrs)	2	5	10	20	
ARE FROM FREQUENCY ANALYSIS	0 · 98	0 - 89	0 · 85	0 · 82	
ARF EXPECTED FROM FSR	0 · 80				·

44		Compu	tation	of A	rea	l Re	du	ctic	on I	Fact	tor.													
LOCA	TION	PLYNLI	NON (	15)							AR	EA: 2	t0 kn	n <b>*</b>		DU	RAT	ION:	1 H	oul	R (F	)		
Number	of ra	infall stat	ions:	(3)					-		Pe	riođ	of d	lata:	Jan	1968	- De	ec 197	15					···.
RANK C	DF RAH	IFALL EV	ENT			1	Ī	2			3	4		5	- 1	6	-*		7	T	8	-	· [	· · ·
MEAN P	POINT P	RAINFALL	(mm)		24	1-1	1	9 · O		16	3	14	•8	13 ·						1-				
AREAL	RAINFA	LL (mm)			21	l•9	1	5 • 5	,	13	•'8	13	0	12 •	2									
PLOTTI	NG POS	ITION (yr	s)		1	2 - 7		4 • 5	•	12	• 2	2.	08	1.	56									
			r <del></del>	<b></b> _			T		Т				T.	<u></u>	T	T		1	r			7		
									Ī							ŀ		. *						
	A - ma	an point ra			لمبعد	6		Ţ	+						•				<u> </u>					
	B-exp	ected mea	a point :	rainfall	fron	n FS	R	1								_								
	C − are	al rainfall	by max	likeli	hood	i (×)																		
	D-ext	Sected are	al rainta	all from	FSR	<b>:</b>	<u>-</u>			·			<b> </b>			•			-			_		
	ļ													•										
•									-	- <b>-</b>	<u></u>	<u> </u>			.							-		
•	1																							
40			··				$\uparrow$		╎			<u> </u>	+	`		-		<b> </b>				1		
2																		1						
r (mr														B	<u> </u>			ļ						
AINFAL														A.										
							7	7	Ĺ	-	/					*								
					_		4	1		×			<u>+</u> °				<del>.</del>	ļ 				_		
							$\downarrow$	+	+															
<u>.</u>		-					-										<u></u>		╂	<u> </u>	┝᠇╄	-		
			T																				•	
	F					$\left  \right $		-	╶╢━			·					<u> </u>		╞╍╌	<u> -</u> -	╞╴┣	4		
		<b> </b>	<u> </u>					-+							-			+	1					
														<b>.</b>										
1	15	<u>†</u>	•	DET	DNI	DEP			2				20		30	4	0	50						
<u></u>		<u></u>		RETU		ER		<u> </u>						<u> </u>					<u> </u>			]		
		D (1/)						7-	E			T	<b>9</b> 1											
ETURN	I PERIO	D (yrs)				2			- 5	!	ារ	1	20											

RETURN PERIOD (yrs)	2	5	10	20	
ARE FROM FREQUENCY ANALYSIS	0 - 89	0 - \$6	0 · 86	0 • 85	ļ
ARF EXPECTED FROM FSR	Q · 88				

Fig.A18 Frequency Curves.

### Appendix B: COMPUTER PROGRAMMES

### PROGRAMME 1

Extracts one year of daily rainfall values from magnetic tape for all sample areas. Selects highest values for each station. Calculates mean areal rainfalls and selects highest daily areal values for each sample area. Performs other analyses appropriate for development of theoretical models to link point and areal rainfall.

```
COMMON/FCOM/IARRAY(1288), NLREC(10,50),
    1
                   JGAGE (10, 50), NGAGES (10), NTODO, NYP, NAREAS
     DIMENSION RAIN (400), NRAIN (400), SAVE (50, 3), REDMAX (3), IDTMAX (3),
    1JSAVE (50), BMEAN (10, 50), AMAXR1 (50), AMAXR2 (50), IGROUP (10, 30),
    2 NGRAIN (15, 366), NGROUP (10), IDATE1 (50), IDATE2 (50), GRAIN (15, 366)
    3 ,NINGRP (50), ASAVE (50), BSAVE (50,3), KSAVE (50), W (50), EFAREA (50,3)
     LOGICAL IMOFF
     NMAX=1288
     NAREAS=9
     NCOUT=7
     NPRINT=6
     NCRD=5
     NCOUT1=9
     NCIN=3
     CALL SSWTCH (1, IDIAG)
     IDIAG=2-IDIAG
     NTODO=0
     MING=9999999
C---- READ IN GAUGES AND GROUPINGS AREA BY AREA
     DO 20 I=1,NAREAS
     READ (NCRD, 1000) NGAGES (1), (IGROUP (1, j), J=1, 30)
     DO 5 J=1,30,2
     IF (IGROUP (I, J))10,10,
   5 CONTINUE
     GO TO 700
  10 NGROUP (I) = (J-1)/2
     NGR2=NGROUP(I)*2
     NG=NGAGES(I)
     NTODO=NTODO+NG
     READ (NCRD, 1000) (JGAGE (I, J), J=1, NG)
     DO 12- J=1.NG
     READ (NCIN, 1001) NDS, BMEAN (I, J)
     IF (NDS.EQ.O) BMEAN (I, J) = -1.
  12 CONTINUE
     DO 15 J=1,NG
     MING=MIND (JGAGE (1, J), MING)
  15 CONTINUE
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2010) I, NGAGES (I), (IGROUP (I, J), J=1, NGR2)
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2011) (JGAGE (I, J), J=1, NG)
  20 CONTINUE
     CALL FIND (MING, IFLAG)
     IF (IFLAG) 710,,
```

```
NDSYR=365
     IF (MOD (NYR, 4).EQ.O) NDSYR=366
     ITIMES=0
  25 NOLDBL=O
  -----LOOP OVER AREAS
     DO 500 K=1,NAREAS
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2001) K, NYR
     DO 30 J=1,50
     AMAXR1(J) = -1.
     AMAXR2(J) = -1.
  30 CONTINUE
     KK=K
     NLOOP=NDSYR
     NGRPD=O
     IGO=1
     NG=NGAGES (K)
     NGR=NGROUP (K)
     NGR2=NGR*2
     DO 50 J=1,NG
     IF (NLREC(K,J)), 50
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2012) JGAGE (K, J)
  50 CONTINUE
  60 DO 63 J=1,400
     RAIN(J)=0.
     NRAIN(J)=O
  63 CONTINUE
     DO 64 J=1,15
     DO 64 I=1,366
     GRAIN(J,I)=0.
     NGRAIN (J,I)=0
  64 CONTINUE
C-----NO. OF GAUGES IN AREA
     NG=NGAGES(K)
     IF (IDIAG.EQ.1.AND.K.EQ.4) WRITE (NPRINT, 9006) (NLREC (K, J), J=1, NG)
C-----LOOP OVER GAUGES
     NOUTG=D
     DO 200 J=1,50
      NINGRP (J) = 0
      JSAVE (J) =J
      DO 69 I=1,3
      EFAREA(J,I) = -1.
      SAVE(J,I)=99999.
  69 CONTINUE
C----GET DATA FROM RAINFALL FILE
      IF (NLREC(K,J)) 200, 200,
      NOUTG=NOUTG+1
      NBLK=NLREC(K,J)/3
      JSTN=NLREC(K, J)-NBLK*3
      IF (NOLDBL-NBLK),75,
      CALL RDRAIN (NBLK, NMAX, IARRAY (1), IFLAG)
  71 IF (IFLAG) 720,,
  75 NOLDBL=NBLK
      NOP=IARRAY(1)
```

```
NIR=IARRAY (3)
 C-----CHECK RIGHT STATION
       IADD=JSTN*NIR+NOP
       ISTN=IRRAY (IADD+1) *1000+ IARRAY (IADD+2)
       IF (JGAGE (K, J) -ISTN) 730,,730
 C----HERE FOR CORRECT STATION, IGO=1, FIND 2 MAX POINT FALLS
 C----- (NLOOP=366)
 C-----IGO=2 TO FIND MAX 3 DAILY AREAL FALLS (NLOOP=3)
       INR=IADD+11
       IMOFF=.FALSE.
       NDSOFF=0
       DO 100 I=1,NLOOP
       GO TO (76,87),IGO
   76 IF (IRRAY (INR).GE.O)GO TO 80
 C----FIND CONSECUTIVE DAYS WHEN GAUGE NOT OPERATING
      IF(IMOFF) GO TO 77
      IMOFF=.TRUE.
      IBEG=1
   77 NDSOFF=NDS OFF+1
      IEND=I
      IF (I.EQ.NLOOP) GO TO 80
     GO TO 98
C----FIND 2 MAX FALLS
  80 IF (IMOFF) WRITE (NPRINT, 2000) JGAGE (K, J), NDSOFF, IBEG, IEND, NYR
     ARINR=IARRAY (INR)
     IF (ITIMES.EQ.1) ARINR=ARINR/BMEAN (K, J)
     IF (I.EQ.NLOOP) GO TO 100
     IMOFF=.FALSE.
     NDSOFF=0
     IF (AMAXR1 (J).GT.ARINR) GO TO 85
     AMAXR2(J) = AMAXR1(J)
     IDATE2(J)=IDATE1(J)
     AMAXR1 (J) = ARINR
     IDATE1(J) = I
     GO TO 90
  85 IF (AMAXR2(J).GT.ARINR) GO TO 90
     AMAXR2(J)=ARINR
     IDATE2(J) = I
     GO TO 90
C-----SAVE RAINFALL FOR ALL GAUGES IN AREA FOR 3 MAX AREAL FALLS.
  87 II=INR+IDTMAX(I)-1
     IF (IARRAY (II).GE.O) GO TO 88
     NLREC(K, J) = -1
     GO TO 100
  88 SAVE(J,I)=IARRAY(II)
     IF (ITIMES.EQ.1) SAVE (J,I) = SAVE (J,I) / BMEAN (K,J)
     GO TO 100
C-----IS GAUGE IN A GROUP?
  90 DO 95 JJ=1,NGR2,2
     IF (J.GE.IGROUP (K, JJ). AND.J.LE.IGROUP (K, JJ+1)) GO TO 96
  95 CONTINUE
C----TOTAL RAIN FOR ALL NON-GROUPED GAUGES FOR I-TH DAY OF
C----THE YEAR
     RAIN(I)=RAIN(I)+ARINR
```

```
NRAIN (I)=NRAIN (I)+1
     GO TO 98
C-----TOTAL RAIN FOR GROUPS OF GAUGES FOR I-TH DAY OF YEAR
  96 JJ = (JJ+1)/2
     GRAIN(JJ,I)=GRAIN(JJ,I)+ARINR
     NGRAIN (JJ, I) = NGRAIN (JJ, I) +1
  98 INR=INR+1
 100 CONTINUE
     GO TO (105,110),IGO
 105 IF (AMAXR1 (J)) 200,,
     IF (IDIAG.EQ.1.AND, K.EQ.4) WRITE (NPRINT, 9004) NLOOP, (RAIN (I), I=1,
    1NLOOP)
     GO TO 200
 110 IF (IDIAG.EQ.1.AND.K.EQ.4) WRITE (NPRINT, 9007) (SAVE (J.I)
    1, I=1, NLOOP)
 200 CONTINUE
     GO TO(205,280),IGO
C-----HERE TO GET MEAN OF GROUP AND INCLUDE IT IN CALCULATION OF
C----AREAL RAINFALL
 205 DO 220 I=1,NLOOP
     DO 210 J=1,NGR
     IF (NGRAIN (J, I)) 210, 210,
     RAIN(I)=RAIN(I)+GRAIN(J,I)/NGRAIN(J,I)
     NRAIN(I)=NRAIN(I)+1
 210 CONTINUE
 220 CONTINUE
     IF (IDIAG.EQ.1.AND.K.EQ.4) GO TO 221
     GO TO 228
 221 DO 223 J=1,NGR
     WRITE (NPRINT, 9005) (GRAIN (J, I), NGRAIN (J, I], I=1, NLOOP)
 223 CONTINUE
     IF (IDIAG.EQ.1.AND.K.EQ.4) WRITE (NPRINT, 9004) NLOOP, (RAIN(I), I=
    11, NLOOP)
C-----CALCULATE AREAL REDUCTION FACTORS FOR 2 MAX. FALLS
 228 WRITE (NCOUT, 2018) K, NG, NYR
     DO 230 J=1,NG
     IF (NLREC (K, J)) 229, 229,
     IDT=IDATE1 (J)
     REDF1 RAIN (IDT) /NRAIN (IDT) /AMAXR1 (J)
     IDT=IDATE2(J)
     REDF2=RAIN(IDT)/NRAIN(IDT)/AMAXR2(J)
     IF (AMAXR1 (J)) 229,,
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2015) JGAGE (K, J), AMAXR1 (J), IDATE1 (J),
    lredf1,AMAXR2(J),IDATE2(J),REDF2
 229 WRITE (NCOUT, 2002) JGAGE (K, J), AMAXR1 (J), IDATE1 (J), REDF1,
    1AMAXR2(J), IDATE2(J), REDF2
 230 CONTINUE
C-----FIND 3 HIGHEST DAILY AREAL RAINFALLS FOR YEAR
     DO 235 I=1,3
     REDMAX(I) = -1.
 235 CONTINUE
     DO 250 I=1,NLOOP
      IF (NRAIN (I)) 250, 250,
      ARAIN=RAIN(I)/NRAIN(I)
```

```
IF (REDMAX (1).GT.ARAIN) GO TO 238
     REDMAX (3)=REDMAX (2)
     IDTMAX(3) = IDTMAX(2)
     REDMAX(2)=REDMAX(1)
     IDTMAX(2)=IDTMAX(1)
     REDMAX(1)=ARAIN
     IDTMAX(1) = I
     GO TO 250
 238 IF (REDMAX(2).GT.ARAIN) GO TO 240
     REDMAX(3)=REDMAX(2)
     IDTMAX(3)=IDTMAX(2)
     REDMAX(2)=ARAIN
     IDTMAX(2)=I
     GO TO 250
 240 IF (REDMAX (3).GT.ARAIN) GO TO 250
     REDMAX (3) = ARAIN
     IDTMAX(3)=I
 250 CONTINUE
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2014) (REDMAX (I), IDTMAX (I), I=1,3)
     WRITE (NCOUT1, 2004) (REDMAX (1), IDTMAX (1), I=1, 3)
     WRITE (NCOUT, 2004) (REDMAX (I), IDTMAX (I), I=1,3)
     NLOOP=3
     IGO=IGO+1
     GO TO 60
C----FIND MEDIAN POINT RAINFALL FOR 3 MAX. EVENTS
 280 DO 400 I=1, NLOOP
 284 II=0
     DO 290 J=1,NG
     IF (NLREC (K, J)) 290, 290,
     DO 285 JJ=1,NGR2,2
     IF (J.GE.IGROUP (K, JJ) . AND. J. LE. IGROUP (K, JJ+1) )GO TO 287
 285 CONTINUE
     II=II+l
     RAIN(II)=SAVE(J,I)
     GO TO 290
 287 JJ=(JJ+1)/2
     GRAIN(JJ,I)=GRAIN(JJ,I)+SAVE(J,I)
     NGRAIN(JJ,I)=NGRAIN(JJ,I)+1
 290 CONTINUE
C-----INCLUDE GROUPED FALLS
     DO 295 JJ=1,NGR
     IF (NGRAIN (JJ, I)) 295, 295,
     II=II+1
     RAIN(II)=GRAIN(JJ,I)/NGRAIN(JJ,I)
 295 CONTINUE
     IF (IDIAG.EQ.1.AND.K.EQ.4) WRITE (NPRINT, 9004) II, (RAIN (J), J=1, II)
C-----RANK THE II RAINFALL VALUES HELD IN RAIN
    IORD=II-1
 296 IFLIP=D
     DO 298 J=1,IORD
     IF (RAIN(J).LT.RAIN(J+1))GO TO 298
     HOLD=RAIN(J)
     RAIN(J)=RAIN(J+1)
     RAIN(J+1)=HOLD
```

```
IFLIP⇒1
 298 CONTINUE
     IF (IFLIP.EQ.O)GO TO 300
     IORD=IORD-1
     IF (IORD.GT.O)GO TO 296
 300 \text{ MIDPT1} = (11+1)/2
     MIDPT2=(II+2)/2
     APRAIN= (RAIN (MIDPT1)+RAIN (MIDPT2))/2.
C----FIND STANDARD DEVIATION OF GROUP MEANS
     SSQR=0.
     TOT=O.
     DO 310 J=1,II
     SSQR=SSQR+RAIN(J) *RAIN(J)
     TOT=TOT+RAIN (J)
 310 CONTINUE
     VAR=1./(II-1)*(SSQR-TOT*TOT/II)
     STDEV=SQRT (VAR)
C-----RANK RAINFALL FOR ALL STATIONS, NOT GROUP MEANS
     DO 313 J=1,50
     ASAVE (J) + SAVE (J, I)
     KSAVE(J) = JSAVE(J)
 313 CONTINUE
     IORD=NG-1
 314 IFLIP=O
     DO 320 J=1,IORD
     IF (ASAVE (J) .LT.ASAVE (J+1) GO TO 320
     HOLD=ASAVE (J)
     ASAVE (J)=ASAVE (J+1)
     ASAVE (J+1)=HOLD
     IHOLD=KSAVE(J)
     KSAVE (J)=KSAVE (J+1)
     KSAVE(J+1)=IHOLD
     IFLIP=1
 320 CONTINUE
     IF (IFLIP.EQ.0)GO TO 330
     IORD=IORD-1
     IF (IORD.GT.O)GO TO 314
C-----CALCULATE EFFECTIVE CUMULATIVE AREAS FOR RANKED RAINFALL
 330 IF (I.NE.1) GO TO 342
     NTOTG=0
     NUMGPS=0
     IF (IDIAG.EQ.1.AND.K.EQ.4) WRITE (NPRINT, 9008) (ASAVE (J), KSAVE (J)
         ,J=1,50)
    1
     DO 340 J=1,NG
     IF (NLREC (K, J) ) 340, 340,
     NTOTG=NTOTG+1
     DO 335 JJ=1,NGR2,2
     IF (J.GE. IGROUP (K, JJ) . AND. J. LE. IGROUP (K, JJ+1))
    1 GO TO 337
 335 CONTINUE
     NUMGPS=NUMGPS+1
     GO TO 340
 337 JJ2=(JJ+1)/2
     IF (NINGRP (JJ2).EQ.O) NUMGPS=NUMGPS+1
```

```
NINGRP (JJ2)=NINGRP (JJ2)+1
 340 CONTINUE
 342 WRITE (NPRINT, 2005) NUMGPS, APRAIN, STDEV, (ASAVE (J), J=1, NTOTG)
     WRITE (NCOUT1, 2017) NTOTG, APRAIN, STDEV, (ASAVE (J), J=1, NTOTG)
     IF (IDIAG.EQ.1.AND.K.EQ.4) WRITE (NPRINT, 9009)
    1 (NINGRP (J), J=1, 50)
     JX=0
     TOTSV=0.
     WTOT=O.
     DO 360 J=1,NG
     JS=KSAVE (J)
     IF (NLREC (K, JS)) 360, 360,
     JX=JX+1
     EFAREA(1, I) = 1000.
     DO 345 JJ=1,NGR2,2
     IF (JS.GE.IGROUP(K,JJ).AND.JS.LE.IGROUP(K,JJ+1))
    1 GO TO 355
 345 CONTINUE
     NGSTNS=1
     GO TO 356
 355 JJ2=(JJ+1)/2
     NGSTNS+NINGRP (JJ2)
 356 W=1000./NUMGPS/NGSTNS
     WTOT=WTOT+W
     EFAREA (JX+1, I) = 1000. - WTOT
     TOTSV=TOTSV+ASAVE (J) *W
     BSAVE (JX, I) = ASAVE (J)
 360 CONTINUE
C-----OUTPUT EFFECTIVE AREAS
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2006) (EFAREA (J,I), J=1, NTOTG)
     WRITE (NCOUT1, 2016) NTOTG, (EFAREA (J, I), J=1, NTOTG
     AMEAN=TOTSV/WTOT
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2003) AMEAN
 400 CONTINUE
     ITHT=ITIMES+1
     CALL FPLOT (EFAREA, BSAVE, NG, KK, NTOTG, ITHT)
 500 CONTINUE
     ITIMES=ITIMES+1
     GO TO (25,600), ITIMES
 600 CALL PLOT (30.,0.,999)
     GO TO 99
 700 WRITE (NPRINT, 2007) I
     GO TO 99
 710 WRITE (NPRINT, 2008) IFLAG
     GO TO 99
 720 WRITE (NPRINT, 2008) IFLAG
     GO TO 99
 730 WRITE (NPRINT, 2009) ISTN, JGAGE (K, J)
     GO TO 99
  99 STOP
1000 FORMAT()
1001 FORMAT(10X,110,F10.5)
2000 FORMAT (' GAUGE '16,' NOT OPERATING FOR', 14, ' DAYS FROM',
    114,' TO', 14, 'TH DAYS OF', 15)
```

```
2001 FORMAT (1H1,/'
                           AREA', 13, ' YEAR', 15/1
2002 FORMAT (110, FI0. 5, 110, F10, 5, F10, 5, 110, F10, 5)
2003 FORMAT (/' MEAN FROM ABOVE=',F10.5)
2004 FORMAT (3 (F10, 5, 110) )
2005 FORMAT (///' FOR', I5, ' GROUPS, MEDIAN POINT RAINFALL=', F10.5,
    1' STANDARD DEVIATION=', F10.4//' RANKED POINT RAINFALL'/
    2(10F10.3))
2006 FORMAT (// '
                     EFFECTIVE CUMULATIVE AREA'/(10F10.3))
2007 FORMAT (' TOO MANY GROUPS FOR', 13, 'TH AREA')
2008 FORMAT(' ERROR, IFLAG=', 110)
2009 FORMAT(' GAUGE ',ILO,'INSTEAD OF',ILO)
2010 FORMAT (' NO OF GAUGES IN', I3, 'TH AREA IS', 15, ' IN GROUPS'/
    116(213, 2X)
2011 FORMAT(' GAUGES'/(1018))
2012 FORMAT(' GAUGE', 17, ' IS NOT AVAILABLE')
2014 FORMAT (//' MAX 3 AREAL VALUES AND THEIR DATES', 3 (F8.2,14))
2015 FORMAT(' GAUGE', 17, ' MAX 2 FALLS, DATES, AND REDUCTION FACTORS',
    12X,F10.5,I5,F10.5,2X,F10.5,I5,F10.5)
2016 FORMAT(110/(10F10.3))
2017 FORMAT(I10,2F10.5/(10F10.3))
2018 FORMAT (3110)
9002 FORMAT(' ARRAY'/(1X,2015))
9003 FORMAT(' AMAXR1, AMAXR2, DATE1, DATE2', 4110)
9004 FORMAT(' NLOOP, RAIN', 110/(1X, 20F5.0))
9005 FORMAT(' GRAIN, NGRAIN'/(1X, 10(F8.2, 12)))
9006 FORMAT(' NLREC'/(10110))
9007 FORMAT(' SAVE', 10F10.1)
9008 FORMAT(' SAVE, JSAVE', /(1X, 10(F6.1, 14)))
9009 FORMAT(' NINGRP'/(1X,2015))
```

```
END
```

### PROGRAMME 2

```
Performs statistical analyses of data from Programme 1 for determina-
 tion of areal and average point frequency curves.
      DIMENSION MAXR (550, 20), PACK (550, 20), NYRSON (275), IDATE (20),
                 REDF (21), ISORTM (60), SORIP (60), TOTR (275),
     1
     2
                 REDMAX (3,9,20), IDTMAX (3,9,20), JGAGE (275), NG (9)
     3
                , IYEAR (20), ARTAL (9), NARTAL (8), SSQTAL (9),
     4
                 ART5(9), NART5(9), SSQT5(9), ART16(9), NART16(9),
     5
                 SSQT16(9)
      NCRD=5
      NCOUT=7
      NPRINT=6
      NTHYR=O
      CALL SSWTCH(1, IDIAG)
      IDIAG=2-IDIAG
   10 READ (NCRD, 1008, END=35) KAREA, NGS, NYR
      IF (KAREA.GT.1) GO TO 15
      J=1
      NTHYR=NTHYR+1
  15 NG (KAREA) =NGS
      DO 30 I=1,NGS
      J2=(J+1)/2
     READ (NCRD, IOOO) JGAGE (J2), MAXR (J, NTHYR), IDATE1, REDF1,
     1
                      MAXR (J+1, NTHYR), IDATE2, REDF2
     PACK (J, NTHYR) = IDATE1*100+REDF1+NTHYR*100000
     PACK (J+1, NTHYR) =IDATE2*100+REDF2+NTHYR*100000
     J = J + 2
  30 CONTINUE
     READ (NCRD, 1007) (REDMAX (I, KAREA, NTHYR), IDTMAX (I, KAREA, NTHYR)
    1, I=1, 3)
     GO TO 10
C-----HERE WITH ALL DATA READ IN, DATE AND REDF PACKED INTO PACK.
с
            FIND HOW MANY YEARS EACH STATION OPERATED AND MEAN OF ANNUAL
С
            MAXIMA
  35 DO 40 J=1,275
     NYRSON (J)=0
     TOTR (J) = 0.
  40 CONTINUE
     DO 45 J=1,9
     ARTAL(J) = 0.
     NARTAL (J) = 0.
     SSQTAL(J)=O.
     ART5(J) = 0.
     NART5(J) = 0.
     SSQT5(J)=0.
     ART16(J) = 0.
     NART16(J) = 0.
     SSQT16(J)=0.
 45 CONTINUE
  50 DO 80 K=1,NTHYR
     J=0
     DO 70 I-1,534,2
```

```
J=J+I
      IF (MAXR (I,K))70,,
      TOTR (J) = TOTR (J) + MAXR (I, K)
      NYRSON (J) =NYRSON (J) +1
   70 CONTINUE
   80 CONTINUE
      DO 100 J=1,267
      IF (NYRSON (J) ) 90, 90,
      AMEAN=TOTR (J) /NYRSON (J)
      WRITE (NPRINT, 2000) JGAGE (J), NYRSON (J), AMEAN
   90 WRITE (NCOUT, 2001) JGAGE (J), NYRSON (J), AMEAN
 100 CONTINUE
      IGJ≃O
      KAREA=1
C-----RANK MAXIMA FOR EACH STATION
      DO 180 I=1,534,2
     NGS=NG (KAREA)
     TOTRAL=0.
     NTOTAL=0.
     SSQRAL=0,
     TOTR12=0.
     NTOT12=0
     SSQR12=0.
     TOTR5=0.
     NTOT5=0.
     SSQRS=0.
     TOTR16=0.
     NTOT16=0
     SSQR16=0.
     I2=(I+1)/2
     IGJ=IGJ+1
     IF (IGJ.LE.NG (KAREA) ) GO TO 105
     IGJ≖O
     KAREA=KAREA+1
 105 IF (NYRSON (12))180,180,
C-----PUT INTO 1-DIMENSIONAL ARRAYS FOR SORTING
     KK=1
     DO 110 K=1,NTHYR
     IF (MAXR (I, K) )110,,
     ISORTM(KK)=MAXR(I,K)
     SORTP(KK)=PACK(I,K)
     ISORTM(KK+1) = MAXR(I+1,K)
     SORTP(KK+1)=PACK(I+1,K)
     КК=КК+2
 110 CONTINUE
     KK=KK-1
C----SORT ON ISORIM CARRYING SORTP
     LOOP=KK-1
     IFLIP=0
 115 DO 120 K=1,LOOP
     IF (ISORTM (K).GT.ISORTM (K+1))GO TO 120
     IHOLD=ISORTM(K)
     ISORTM (K) = ISORTM (K+1)
     ISORTM (K+1)=IHOLD
```

HOLD=SORTP (K) SORTP (K) = SORTP (K+1)SORTP (K+1)=HOLD IFLIP=1 120 CONTINUE LOOP=LOOP-1 IF(LOOP)130,130, IF(IFLIP),,115 C-----HERE WITH SORTED MAXIMA 130 IF (NYRSON (12).GE.12) GO TO 135 WRITE (NPRINT, 2012) JGAGE (12) GO TO 137 135 WRITE (NPRINT, 2013) JGAGE (12) 137 N2O=KK IF (N20.GT.20) N20=20 WRITE (NPRINT, 2002) (ISORTM(K), K=1, N20) N5=0 N16=0 DO 150 K=1,N20 IDATE (K) = SORTP (K) /100. REDF (K) = SORTP(K) - IDATE(K) \* 100IYEAR (K) = IDATE(K) / 1000IDATE (K) = IDATE (K) - IYEAR (K) \*1000IYEAR (K) = IYEAR (K) + 1959IF (NYRSON(12).LT.12) GO TO 150 TOTRAL=TOTRAL+REDF (K) SSQRAL=SSQRAL+REDF (K) \*REDF (K) IF (K.GT.5)GO TO 140 N5=N5+1 TOTR5=TOTR5+REDF(K) SSQR5=SSQR5+REDF (K) \*REDF (K) GO TO 150 140 IF (K.LT.16)GO TO 150 IF (K.GT.20)GO TO 150 N16=N16+1 TOTR16=TOTR16+REDF(K) SSQR16=SSQR16+REDF (K) \*REDF (K) 150 CONTINUE WRITE (NPRINT, 2004) (REDF (K), K=1, N20) WRITE (NPRINT, 2003) (IDATE (K), K=1, N20) WRITE (NPRINT, 2014) (IYEAR (K), K=1, N20) C----FIND MEANS AND STANDARD DEVIATIONS IF (NYRSON (12).LT.12) GO TO 180 AMEAN=TOTRAL/N2O ARTAL (KAREA) = ARTAL (KAREA) + TOTRAL NARTAL (KAREA) = NARTAL (KAREA) + N2O SSQTAL (KAREA)=SSQTAL (KAREA)+SSQRAL VAR=1./(N2O-1)\*(SSQRAL-TOTRAL\*TOTRAL/N2O) STDEV=SQRT (VAR) WRITE (NPRINT, 2005) N20, AMEAN, STDEV IF (N5) 180, 180 AMEAN=TOTR5/N5 ART5 (KAREA) = ART5 (KAREA) + TOTR5 NART5 (KAREA) = NART5 (KAREA) + N5

```
SSQT5 (KAREA)=SSQT5 (KAREA)+SSQR5
     VAR=1./(N5-1)*(SSQR5-TOTR5*TOTR5/N5)
     STDEV=SORT (VAR)
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2006) N5, AMEAN, STDEV
     IF (N16) 180, 180,
     AMEAN=TOTR16/N16
     ART16 (KAREA) = ART16 (KAREA) + TOTR16
     NART16 (KAREA) = NART16 (KAREA) + N16
     SSQT16 (KAREA) = SSQT16 (KAREA) + SSQR16
     VAR=1./(N16-1)*(SSQR16-TOTR16*TOTR16/N16)
     STDEV=SQRT (VAR)
     NX16=N16+15
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2007) NX16, AMEAN, STDEV
 180 CONTINUE
C-----LOOP OVER AREAS
     J=O
     DO 300 KAREA=1,9
     NGS=NG (KAREA)
     NGS12=0
     NTOT=O
     TOT=O
     DO 190 I=1,NGS
     J=J+1
     IF (NYRSON (J) .LT.12)GO TO 190
     J2=(J-1)*2+1
     DO 185 N=1,NTHYR
     IF (MAXR (J2, N))185,,
     TOT=TOT+MAXR (J2, N)
     NTOT=NTOT+1
 185 CONTINUE
     NGS12 = NGS12 + 1
 190 CONTINUE
     AMEAN=TOT/NTOT
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2008) KAREA, NGS12, AMEAN
     TOT=O
     DO 200 N=1,NTHYR
     TOT=TOT+REDMAX (1, KAREA, N)
 200 CONTINUE
     AMEAN=TOT/NTHYR
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2009) AMEAN
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2011)
C-----PUT REDMAX INTO SINGLE ARRAY FOR SORTING
     К=1
     DO 210 N=1,NTHYR
     SORTP (K) = REDMAX (1, KAREA, N)
     SORTP (K+1) = REDMAX (2, KAREA, N)
     SORTP (K+2)=REDMAX (3, KAREA, N)
     ISORTM (K)=IDTMAX (1, KAREA, N)+N*1000
     ISORTM (K+1)=IDTMAX (2, KAREA, N)+N*1000
     ISORTM (K+2)=IDTMAX (3, KAREA, N)+N*1000
     к=к+3
 210 CONTINUE
C-----SORT ON ISORTM CARRYING SORTP
```

```
LOOP=K-2
```

```
215 IFLIP=0
 220 DO 230 N=1,LOOP
     IF (SORTP (N), GT. SORTP (N+1)] GO TO 230
     IHOLD=SORTP(N)
     SORTP (N) = SORTP (N+1)
     SORTP (N+1)=IHOLD
     HOLD=ISORTM (N)
     ISORTM(N) = ISORTM(N+1)
     ISORTM(N+1)=HOLD
     IFLIP=1
 230 CONTINUE
     LOOP=LOOP-1
     IF (LOOP) 240, 240,
     IF(IFLIP),,215
 240 DO 245 N=1,20
     IYEAR (N) = ISORTM (N) / 1000
     IDATE (N) = ISORTM (N) - IYEAR (N) * 1000
     IYEAR (N) = IYEAR (N) + 1959
 245 CONTINUE
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2017) (SORTP (N), IDATE (N), IYEAR (N), N=1, 20)
C----FIND MEANS AND STANDARD DEVNS FOR AREAS
     AMEAN=ARTAL (KAREA) /NARTAL (KAREA)
     VAR=1./(NARTAL(KAREA)-1)*(SSQTAL(KAREA)-ARTAL(KAREA)*ARTAL(KAREA)
    1/NARTAL (KAREA))
     STDEV=SQRT (VAR)
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2005) NARTAL (KAREA), AMEAN, STDEV
     AMEAN=ART5 (KAREA) /NART5 (KAREA)
     VAR=1./(NART5(KAREA)-1)*(SSQT5(KAREA)-ART5(KAREA)*ART5(KAREA)
    1/NART5(KAREA))
     STDEV=SQRT (VAR)
     NX5=NART5 (KAREA) /NGS12
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2006) NX5, AMEAN, STDEV
     AMEAN=ART16 (KAREA) /NART16 (KAREA)
     VAR=1./(NART16(KAREA)-1)*(SSOT16(KAREA)-ART16(KAREA)*ART16(KAREA)
    1/NART16(KAREA)).
     STDEV=SORT (VAR)
     NX16=NART16 (KAREA) /NGS12+15
     WRITE (NPRINT, 2007) NX16, AMEAN, STDEV
300 CONTINUE
3110 FORMAT(311), F10.5, 2110, F10.5)
1007 FORMAT (3 (F10.5, I10))
1008 FORMAT (3110)
1010 FORMAT()
2000 FORMAT(' GAUGE', 17,' OPERATED FOR', 13,' YEARS, MEAN OF ANNUAL',
    1' MAXIMA=',F10.3)
2001 FORMAT (2110, F10.6)
2002 FORMAT (12X, 'VALUES', 2015)
2003 FORMAT (13X, 'DATES', 2015)
2004 FORMAT(' REDUCTION FACTORS', 20F5, 2)
2005 FORMAT (18x, 'MEAN REDFAC OF', 14, ' HIGHEST FALLS=', F10.3,
    1' STANDARD DEVN.=',F10.5)
2006 FORMAT (20X, 'MEAN REDFAC OF', 14, ' HIGHEST FALLS=', F10.3,
    1' STANDARD DEVN.=',F10.5)
2007 FORMAT (9x, 'MEAN REDFAC OF 16-', 13, ' HIGHEST FALLS=', F10.3,
```

```
1' STANDARD DEVN.=',F10.5)
2008 FORMAT(///' FOR AREA',I3,',',I3,' GAUGES WERE OPERATING FOR 12 OR'
1,' MORE YEARS'/' MEAN OF THE ANNUAL MAXIMA IS',F10.5)
2009 FORMAT(' THE MEAN OF AREAL ANNUAL MAXIMA IS',
1F10.5)
2011 FORMAT(/' RANKED HIGHEST FALLS DATE YEAR'/)
2012 FORMAT(//' GAUGE',17)
2013 FORMAT(//' GAUGE',17,' ** 12 YEAR GAUGE **')
2014 FORMAT(13x,' YEAR',2015)
2017 FORMAT(2x,F10.5,12x,I3,I7)
9000 FORMAT(' REDMAX ETC',3(F10.5,I10),2110)
STOP
```

```
END
```